Evaluating the individual- & population-level effects of the Quebec rotavirus vaccination program

Margaret K. Doll, MPH

Department of Epidemiology, Biostatistics, and Occupational Health McGill University, Montreal, Canada

November 2017

A thesis submitted to McGill University Faculty of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.)

© Margaret K. Doll, 2017

Table of Contents

Front Matter	3
Abstract	3
Résumé	6
Acknowledgements	9
Statement of Financial Support	10
Contribution of Authors	11
Statement of Originality	12
List of Tables	
List of Figures	14
Abbreviations and Acronyms	15
Chapter 1: Introduction	16
1.1 Background	16
1.2 Research Objectives	17
1.3 Organization of Thesis	17
Chapter 2: Literature review	
2.1 Rotavirus clinical features, epidemiology, and surveillance in the pre-vaccine era	18
2.2 Rotavirus vaccines	19
2.3 Quebec rotavirus vaccination program	19
2.4 Vaccine program evaluation	20
2.4.1 Vaccine coverage	20
2.4.2 Measurement of the effects of vaccination	21
2.4.3 Direct effect of vaccination	22
2.4.4 Overall effect of vaccination	26
2.5 Evaluation of rotavirus vaccination in Quebec and other high-income countries	28
2.5.1 Rotavirus vaccine coverage in Quebec	28
2.5.2 Direct effects of rotavirus vaccination	29
2.5.3 Overall effects of rotavirus vaccination	30
Chapter 3: Effectiveness of monovalent rotavirus vaccine in a high-income, predo	minant-use
setting	32
3.1 Preface	32
3.2 Manuscript	33
Chanter 4: Two hirds with one stone: estimating population vaccination coverage	from a test-
negative varcine effectiveness case-control study	50 50
הבקמנוער עמנוחר בחבנועבוובא נמאב-נטוונטו אנמעעייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייי	
4.1 Preface	50

4.2 Manuscript	51
Chapter 5: Estimation of the overall effect of a rotavirus vaccine program attrib	utable to a
per-unit change in rotavirus vaccine coverage in the population	
5.1 Preface	72
5.2 Manuscript	73
Chapter 6: Summary & Conclusions	91
6.1 Summary of Research	91
6.2 Limitations	92
6.3 Implications and Directions for Future Research	93
6.4 Conclusions	94
Back Matter	96
References	

Front Matter

Abstract

Rotavirus was the leading cause of pediatric emergency department visits and hospitalizations for acute gastroenteritis in Canada and other high-income countries during the prevaccine era. In consideration of the burden of rotavirus gastroenteritis, the Province of Quebec implemented a routine childhood rotavirus vaccination program in November 2011. Under this program, Quebec residents are eligible to receive monovalent rotavirus vaccine at no cost, with the vaccine routinely administered at 2 and 4 months of age. Evaluation of the program's success is essential given its scope and financial costs, and may dually provide insight into the significance of differing program design choices among rotavirus vaccine programs globally. The aim of my doctoral research was to advance scientific knowledge regarding rotavirus vaccine programs and epidemiologic methods related to vaccine program assessment via the evaluation of the Quebec monovalent rotavirus vaccine program. This thesis is based upon three manuscripts.

1. Effectiveness of monovalent rotavirus vaccine in a high-income, predominant-use setting

The first objective of this thesis was to evaluate the vaccine effectiveness, or direct effect, of the monovalent rotavirus vaccine to prevent emergency department visits and hospitalizations among children 8 weeks to 35 months of age. Prior to this work, there was little research examining the effectiveness of the monovalent rotavirus vaccine in a high-income setting, where it was predominantly used over pentavalent rotavirus vaccine. We implemented a test-negative case-control study design among eligible children seeking emergency care for acute gastroenteritis who were enrolled in active rotavirus surveillance at three Quebec hospitals. We estimated that the adjusted \geq 1-dose monovalent rotavirus vaccine was 92.5% (95% CI: 69.3%, 98.2%). We concluded that monovalent rotavirus vaccine was highly effective to prevent emergency department visits and hospitalizations due to rotavirus infection, and found that our estimates were similar to those from high-income settings with concurrent monovalent and pentavalent rotavirus vaccine use.

2. Two birds with one stone: estimating population vaccination coverage from a test-negative vaccine effectiveness case-control study

The second objective of this thesis was to evaluate the uptake of rotavirus vaccination in the Quebec population. Since Quebec did not have an immunization registry at the time the rotavirus vaccine program was implemented, we demonstrated how rotavirus vaccine coverage for the population may be estimated using coverage data from control subjects in a test-negative vaccine effectiveness case-control study, which we implemented to estimate rotavirus vaccine effectiveness in objective 1. We discussed our underlying assumptions to generalize rotavirus vaccine coverage estimates to a broader population, validated our estimates with comparison to estimates from the Quebec immunization survey, and used simulations to explore the effect of diagnostic accuracy to discern control subjects on coverage estimates. We estimated that rotavirus \geq 1-dose coverage was 86.8% (95% CI: 82.7%, 90.0%) among participants eligible for vaccination under the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program, and concluded that controls from a test-negative vaccine effectiveness case-control study may be a valuable resource for vaccine coverage information, when reasonable assumptions can be made to generalize coverage estimates.

3. Estimation of the overall effect of a rotavirus vaccine program attributable to a per-unit change in rotavirus vaccine coverage in the population

The third and final objective of this thesis was to evaluate the impact, or overall effect, of the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program to prevent all-cause acute gastroenteritis hospitalizations among a random sample of approximately 25% of children 8 to 35 months of age residing in the Montreal census metropolitan area, using a time series study design. In accordance with standard practice, we estimated the overall effect of the vaccine program as a rate ratio comparing adjusted rates of our outcome in the post- versus pre-vaccine periods. Additionally, we demonstrated how the overall effect may be characterized as the effect associated with a 10% increase in rotavirus vaccine coverage in the population by using continuous rotavirus vaccine coverage as our exposure variable, derived from the application of the study design highlighted in objective 2. We estimated that the vaccine program was associated with a mean 29.3% (95% CI: 16.5%, 40.1%) relative decline in adjusted weekly rates of all-cause acute gastroenteritis hospitalizations in the postversus pre-vaccine period, or that a 10% increase in rotavirus \geq 1-dose vaccine coverage was associated with a 6.8% (95% CI: 3.9%, 9.5%) relative decline in adjusted weekly rates. We also discussed the utility of measuring the overall effect associated with a per-unit change in vaccine coverage, and concluded that researchers may consider estimating this measure, in addition to standard measures, to promote the generalizability of their estimates to other coverage levels and settings.

Collectively, the results from this thesis research demonstrated the relative success of the Quebec monovalent rotavirus vaccine program, with (i) greater than 90% effectiveness of monovalent rotavirus vaccine to prevent emergency department visits and hospitalizations due to rotavirus gastroenteritis, (ii) achievement of more than $85\% \ge 1$ -dose rotavirus vaccine coverage among the population eligible for vaccination under the new program, and (iii) a near 30% average relative decline in adjusted weekly rates of all-cause acute gastroenteritis hospitalizations since the implementation of the program among children 8 to 35 months of age. This research also makes two important methodological contributions to the field of vaccine program evaluation with its suggestion of an alternative design to estimate vaccine coverage in the population, and an additional measure to estimate the overall effect of a vaccine program. While this research highlights the initial success of the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program, ongoing research is necessary to evaluate its continued achievements.

Résumé

Le rotavirus était la principale cause des gastro - entérites aigües se soldant par des visites aux urgences pédiatriques et des hospitalisations au Canada ainsi que dans d'autres pays développés au cours de l'ère pré-vaccinale. Compte tenu du fardeau des gastro-entérites à rotavirus, la province de Québec a mis en place un programme de vaccination de routine contre le rotavirus chez les enfants en novembre 2011. Dans le cadre de ce programme, les résidents du Québec sont admissibles à recevoir un vaccin monovalent contre le rotavirus sans frais, le vaccin étant administré de routine à 2 et 4 mois d'âge. L'évaluation du succès du programme est essentielle compte tenu de sa portée et de ses coûts financiers et peut donner un aperçu de l'importance des différents choix de conception de programme parmi les programmes de vaccin contre le rotavirus à l'échelle mondiale. L'objectif de ma recherche doctorale était de faire avancer les connaissances scientifiques et les méthodes épidémiologiques au sujet des programmes de vaccination, en évaluant le programme de vaccination par le vaccin monovalent contre le rotavirus au Québec. Cette thèse repose sur trois manuscrits.

1. Effectiveness of monovalent rotavirus vaccine in a high-income, predominant-use setting

Le premier objectif de cette thèse était d'évaluer l'efficacité du vaccin ou l'effet direct du vaccin monovalent contre le rotavirus afin de prévenir les visites aux urgences et les hospitalisations des enfants âgés de 8 semaines à 35 mois. Il existait auparavant peu de recherches sur l'efficacité du vaccin monovalent contre le rotavirus en pays développés où son utilisation prédominait par rapport au vaccin pentavalent contre le rotavirus. Nous avons mis en place une étude cas-témoin test-négatif au sein d'une cohorte d'enfants admissibles qui se présentaient aux urgences pour une gastro-entérite aigüe et qui avaient été enrôlés dans une surveillance active des infections à rotavirus, dans trois hôpitaux québécois. Nous avons estimé que l'efficacité ajustée du vaccin monovalent contre le rotavirus était très efficace pour prévenir les visites aux urgences et les hospitalisations en raison d'une infection à rotavirus et avons constaté que nos estimations étaient semblables à celles provenant de pays développés où il y avait une utilisation simultanée des vaccin monovalent et pentavalent contre le rotavirus.

2. Two birds with one stone: estimating population vaccination coverage from a test-negative vaccine effectiveness case-control study

Le deuxième objectif de cette thèse était d'évaluer la couverture vaccinale contre le rotavirus dans la population québécoise. Étant donné que le Québec n'avait pas de registre de vaccination au moment où le programme de vaccination contre le rotavirus a été implanté, nous avons démontré comment la couverture vaccinale contre le rotavirus pouvait être estimée en utilisant les données de couverture des sujets témoins dans une étude cas-témoin test-négatif d'efficacité du vaccin, tel que décrit dans l'objectif 1. Nous avons discuté de nos hypothèses sousjacentes nous permettant de généraliser les estimations de la couverture vaccinale contre le rotavirus à une population plus large, validé nos estimations par comparaison aux estimations de l'enquête sur la couverture vaccinale du Québec et utilisé des simulations pour explorer l'effet de la précision diagnostique à détecter les témoins sur les estimations de couverture. Nous avons estimé que la couverture ≥1-dose du vaccin rotavirus était de 86,8% (95% CI: 82,7%, 90,0%) parmi les participants admissibles à la vaccination dans le cadre du programme au Québec et avons conclu que les témoins d'une étude cas-témoin test-négatif d'efficacité du vaccin pouvait être une ressource précieuse pour l'information sur la couverture vaccinale, lorsque des hypothèses de base peuvent être émise pour généraliser les estimations de couverture.

3. Estimation of the overall effect of a rotavirus vaccine program attributable to a per-unit change in rotavirus vaccine coverage in the population

Le troisième et dernier objectif de cette thèse était d'évaluer l'impact, ou l'effet global, du programme de vaccination contre le rotavirus au Québec à prévenir les hospitalisations secondaire à une gastro-entérite aiguë, toutes causes confondues, parmi un échantillon aléatoire d'environ 25% des enfants de 8 à 35 mois résidant dans la région métropolitaine de recensement de Montréal, en utilisant un devis de séries chronologiques. Conformément à la pratique standard, nous avons estimé l'effet global du programme de vaccination en utilisant un ratio de taux, comparant les taux ajustés de notre issue des périodes post versus pré-vaccinales. En outre, nous avons démontré comment l'effet global pouvait être caractérisé en tant qu'effet associé à une augmentation de 10% de la couverture vaccinale dans la population en utilisant la couverture vaccinale comme variable continue, puisque notre variable d'exposition pouvait être dérivée du devis de l'étude décrite dans l'objectif 2. Nous avons estimé que le programme de vaccination était associé à une baisse relative moyenne de 29,3% (95% CI: 16,5%, 40,1%) des taux hebdomadaires ajustés de toutes les

hospitalisations pour gastro-entérites aigües dans la période post versus pré-vaccin ou qu'une augmentation de 10% de la couverture vaccinale contre le rotavirus \geq 1 dose était associée à une baisse relative de 6,8% (95% CI: 3,9%, 9,5%) des taux hebdomadaires ajustés. Nous avons également discuté de l'utilité de la mesure de l'effet global associé à un changement d'une unité de la couverture vaccinale et conclu que les chercheurs peuvent envisager utiliser cette mesure, en plus des mesures standard, pour promouvoir la généralisation de leurs estimations à d'autres milieux et niveaux de couverture.

Collectivement, les résultats de cette thèse ont démontré le succès relatif du programme de vaccination contre le rotavirus au Québec, avec (i) une efficacité supérieure à 90% du vaccin monovalent contre le rotavirus à prévenir les visites aux urgences et les hospitalisations causées par les gastro-entérites à rotavirus, (ii) plus de 85% de couverture vaccinale ≥ 1 dose parmi la population éligible dans le cadre du nouveau programme et (iii) un déclin relatif moyen de près de 30% des taux hebdomadaires ajustés d'hospitalisations dues aux gastro-entérites aigües toutes causes depuis la mise en œuvre du programme chez les enfants de 8 à 35 mois. Cette recherche fait également deux contributions méthodologiques importantes dans le domaine de l'évaluation du programme de vaccination avec la proposition d'un devis alternatif pour estimer la couverture vaccinale dans la population et une mesure supplémentaire pour estimer l'effet global d'un programme de vaccination. Bien que cette recherche est nécessaire pour évaluer ses résultats continus.

Acknowledgements

I am incredibly grateful for the support of many people who made this work possible. First and foremost, I would like to thank my primary thesis supervisor, Dr. Caroline Quach, who agreed to take me in at our very first meeting and from that moment on, provided unfailing mentorship and guidance throughout my degree. I am also grateful for her commitment to my professional enrichment and the numerous learning opportunities that she provided me during my studies, as well as the financial support to make it all possible. I would also like to thank my thesis cosupervisor, Dr. David Buckeridge, for his superb insight and the expertise he brought to this work. Thank you both for your outstanding mentorship, commitment, and guidance.

I would also like to thank the Department of Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Occupational Health for their commitment to their students, excellent professors and coursework that prepared me for my doctoral research. I am also grateful for my fellow cohort members and peers in the program, in particular, Dr. Jennifer Wu, Dr. Kathryn Morrison, Miriam Kinkaid, and Dr. Constantina Boikos, who have kept me smiling throughout this journey. I would also like to acknowledge my comprehensive exam study group, who made life a bit lighter during a dark time.

Prior to my doctorate, I worked as a vaccine-preventable diseases epidemiologist at the New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene. I would like to gratefully acknowledge my supervisors during that time, Dr. Christopher Zimmerman and Dr. Jennifer Rosen, who encouraged me to pursue my doctorate, and thank them both for their support throughout the years.

I would also like to thank my family – Mom, Dad, JD, Genna, & co. – who have always encouraged and supported me throughout all of life's journeys, and cheered even the smallest of my accomplishments. I especially would like to thank my husband, Jesse, who somehow has adapted his skills as a lawyer to discuss confounding biases, read my papers, and feign interest in all discussions epidemiology. Thank you for your love, support, and humor. And last but not least, thank you to Ulysses, August, and Nina, who remind me daily that there are much sweeter things in life than work.

Statement of Financial Support

I would like to gratefully acknowledge the financial support I received during my doctoral studies. For my first three years, I received a Tomlinson Doctoral Fellowship from the Faculty of Medicine, a Friends of McGill scholarship for two of these years, and a Department of Epidemiology, Biostatistics, and Occupational Health international tuition fee waiver in my third year. In my fourth year, I received a Max E. Binz fellowship from the Faculty of Medicine, and a stipend from Dr. Caroline Quach in my fourth and fifth doctoral years. Additionally, Dr. Quach generously provided me with funding throughout my training to present my research at scientific conferences, and additional funding opportunities via research assistantships.

Contribution of Authors

Manuscript 1: Doll, M.K., D.L. Buckeridge, K.T. Morrison, A. Gagneur, B. Tapiero, H. Charest, C. Quach. Effectiveness of monovalent rotavirus vaccine in a high-income, predominant-use setting. *Vaccine* 2015; 33(51): 7307-7314.

I researched and designed the analytical methods for this study, with methodological input from Dr. Buckeridge, Dr. Morrison, and Dr. Quach, and substantive input from Dr. Quach. I cleaned study data, conducted all analyses, interpreted results, and drafted the original manuscript. Dr. Quach conceived of the active surveillance protocol and developed the tools for data collection, and in conjunction with Dr. Gagneur and Dr. Tapiero, implemented active surveillance and data collection at 3 hospital sites. Dr. Charest directed the laboratory testing of study specimens. All authors provided critical feedback on the manuscript.

Manuscript 2: Doll, M.K., K.T. Morrison, D.L. Buckeridge, C. Quach. Two birds with one stone: estimating population vaccination coverage from a test-negative vaccine effectiveness case-control study. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 2016; 63(8): 1080-1086.

I conceived of the study premise, objectives, and developed the study protocol, with methodological input from Dr. Buckeridge, Dr. Morrison, and Dr. Quach, and substantive input from Dr. Buckeridge and Dr. Quach. I cleaned study data, conducted all study analyses, interpreted study results, and drafted the study manuscript. Dr. Quach conceived of the active surveillance protocol, and was the principal investigator in the execution of active surveillance at 3 hospitals. All authors provided critical feedback on the manuscript.

Manuscript 3: Doll, M.K., C. Quach, D.L. Buckeridge. Estimation of the overall effect of a rotavirus vaccine program attributable to a per-unit change in rotavirus vaccine coverage in the population. Currently under consideration at the *American Journal of Epidemiology*.

I conceived of the study premise, objectives, and developed the study protocol, with methodological and substantive input from Dr. Buckeridge and Dr. Quach. I conducted all study analyses, interpreted study results, and drafted the study manuscript. Dr. Buckeridge conceived of the original design of the population health record (PopHR) cohort, and is the principal investigator for all research using the cohort. All authors provided critical feedback on the manuscript.

Statement of Originality

This thesis research is based upon original scholarship executed in three manuscripts, which each contribute new knowledge to inform the success of the Quebec rotavirus vaccination program, and advance either the scientific understanding of rotavirus vaccination programs or methods to evaluate vaccine programs, generally. In manuscript 1 (Chapter 3), I evaluated the effectiveness of monovalent rotavirus vaccine to protect against rotavirus hospitalizations and emergency department visits. To our knowledge, this was the first evaluation of monovalent vaccine effectiveness in Quebec, and the second evaluation of the vaccine in a high-income setting where the vaccine is predominantly used over other vaccines. Further, in manuscript 2, I demonstrated a new method to derive rotavirus vaccine coverage in the general population by using data from a test-negative case-control rotavirus vaccine effectiveness study, and estimated rotavirus vaccine coverage among children eligible for the new program in the Quebec population, documenting the program's relative success. Finally, in manuscript 3, I characterized the effect of the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program using time series methods that had not previously been used to evaluate the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program, and characterized the overall effect (i) attributable to the program as a whole, and (ii) attributable to a per-unit increase in vaccine coverage. To our knowledge, the overall effect attributable to a per-unit increase in vaccine coverage has never been used to estimate the effect of a rotavirus vaccine program before, and represents a new measure that can be applied to evaluate other vaccine programs and settings.

While I gratefully acknowledge the outstanding guidance that I have received from my co-supervisors and co-authors on methodological and substantive aspects of this thesis, I declare that the manuscripts presented in this thesis represent my own original work.

List of Tables

Table 3-1. Characteristics of active surveillance and eligible vaccine effectiveness study participants by etiology 42
Table 4-1. Characteristics of age-eligible and age- & program-eligible coverage study participants 60
Table 4-2: Mean bias (95% confidence intervals) in vaccination coverage estimates estimated via simulations for varying levels of diagnostic sensitivity and specificity
Table 5-1. Adjusted model coefficients, rate ratios (RR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) for the dichotomous and continuous representations of our exposure, the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program84

List of Figures

Figure 2-1. Halloran and Struchiner (1991) study designs to measure vaccination effects
Figure 2-2. Directed acyclic graph examining the role of healthcare-seeking behavior in rotavirus vaccine effectiveness studies
Figure 2-3. Schematic representation of recruitment and execution of the test-negative case-control study design to estimate rotavirus vaccine effectiveness
Figure 3-1. Flow diagram of active surveillance (A) and vaccine effectiveness (B) study participants43
Figure 3-2. Frequency and percentage of rotavirus-positive active surveillance cases and 2-dose rotavirus vaccination coverage over time
Figure 3-3. Beta distributions for mean annual 2-dose rotavirus coverage among rotavirus -negative participants aged 1-year for each rotavirus season
Figure 3-4. Examination of smoothed rotavirus strain prevalence over time by strain category using a simple, 6-month, backwards moving average
Figure 4-1. Illustrated representation of the role of imperfect diagnostic characteristics (sensitivity and specificity) on vaccination coverage estimates derived from controls in a test-negative case-control vaccine effectiveness study
Figure 4-2. Rotavirus ≥2-dose coverage by subgroup among participants eligible for 2 doses of rotavirus vaccination under the Quebec rotavirus vaccination program
Figure 4-3. Comparison of rotavirus ≥2-dose coverage estimates from study participants and the 2015 Quebec provincial immunization survey
Supplemental Figure 4-4. Schematic representation of simulated populations to assess mean bias in coverage
Figure 5-1. Weekly rates of all-cause acute gastroenteritis (AGE) hospitalizations among children 8 to 35 months of age, June 1998 – December 2014
Figure 5-2. Observed counts versus predicted model estimates and 95% confidence intervals (CI) of weekly all-cause AGE hospitalizations over time
Figure 5-3. Sensitivity analyses examining the adjusted overall effect of the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program on the weekly rate of all-cause AGE hospitalizations

Abbreviations and Acronyms

AGE: acute gastroenteritis
AIC: Akaike information criterion
CHU: centre hospitalier universitaire
CI: confidence interval
EIA: enzyme immunoassay
INSPQ: Institut National de Santé Publique du Québec
IP : incidence proportion
IRB : institutional review board
NACI: National Advisory Committee on Immunization
OR : odds ratio
PD : prevalence difference
RR : relative rate or risk
RV1 : Rotarix [®] monovalent rotavirus vaccine
RV5 : RotaTeq [®] pentavalent rotavirus vaccine
RT-PCR : real-time reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reactions
VE: vaccine effectiveness

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Background

Rotavirus was the major cause of pediatric acute gastroenteritis (AGE) among Canadian children during the pre-vaccine era.¹⁻⁷ In Quebec, approximately 50 to 74 per 10,000 children under 5 years of age were hospitalized for rotavirus AGE annually, and 117 to 152 per 10,000 children under 5 years of age required emergency department care.⁷ Given the high prevalence of severe disease, rotavirus infection was costly and burdensome. Canadians spent an estimated \$125 million per birth cohort on rotavirus-related medical expenses by the time the cohort reached 5 years of age.⁸

Currently, two rotavirus vaccines, Rotarix[®] (RV1, monovalent) and RotaTeq[®] (RV5, pentavalent), are licensed for use in Canada.^{9,10} In November 2011, the Province of Quebec implemented a routine childhood rotavirus vaccination program with the decision to exclusively fund RV1 vaccine. To date, there has been little evaluation of the RV1 program, which is essential to justify the program's scope and financial costs. Evaluation of the program can also provide insight into the significance of differing rotavirus vaccine program design choices, such as the decision to use RV1 and/or RV5 vaccine, and provide an opportunity to innovate upon existing methods of vaccine program evaluation.

Three key indicators frequently used to inform the success of vaccination in a jurisdiction that are also foci of this thesis research, are measurement of: (i) the direct effect of vaccination, or vaccine effectiveness, (ii) vaccine coverage, and (iii) the overall effect of a vaccination program. While measurement of vaccine coverage addresses the population-level success of the *implementation* of a vaccine program, evaluation of the direct and overall effects of vaccination examine the downstream consequences of vaccination on a disease outcome, either at the level of the individual exposed to a vaccine (*i.e.* direct effect), or the population exposed to a vaccination program (*i.e.* overall effect).¹¹⁻¹⁴ The latter measure not only encompasses direct effects of vaccinated and unvaccinated populations, arising from vaccine-related changes in the prevalence of a disease in the population.¹¹⁻¹⁴ Together, evaluation of these three measures will form a comprehensive assessment of RV1 vaccination in Quebec, both among individuals receiving the RV1 vaccine, and the Quebec population exposed to the RV1 vaccination program.

1.2 Research Objectives

The overall goal of my doctoral thesis was to advance scientific knowledge regarding rotavirus vaccine programs and epidemiologic methods related to vaccine program assessment, through the evaluation of the Quebec RV1 rotavirus vaccine program. The three specific aims of this thesis were:

- 1. To examine the vaccine effectiveness, or direct effect, of the RV1 vaccine to prevent pediatric emergency department visits and hospitalizations in Quebec (Manuscript 1).
- To estimate rotavirus vaccination coverage among the Quebec population eligible for vaccination, and innovate upon existing methods of vaccine coverage assessment (Manuscript 2).
- 3. To evaluate the population impact, or overall effect, of the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program to prevent pediatric all-cause AGE hospitalizations, and characterize the effect attributable to the program as a whole, according to standard practice, and the effect attributable to a per-unit change in vaccine coverage, a newly proposed measure that may help to promote the generalizability of overall effect estimates (**Manuscript 3**).

1.3 Organization of Thesis

This manuscript-based thesis is organized into six chapters. In Chapter 2, I discuss the current state of the literature as relevant to the thesis goal and specific aims outlined here in Chapter 1. Chapters 3-5 form the core of the thesis, with each chapter representing a manuscript written to address one of the thesis specific aims. Specifically, in Chapter 3, I evaluate the effectiveness of RV1 vaccine using data from an active surveillance study at 3 hospitals in Quebec; I use the same dataset to assess rotavirus vaccine coverage among the population eligible for vaccination under the new program in Chapter 4; and in Chapter 5, I characterize the overall effect of the Quebec RV1 vaccination program in the population among a sample of the Montreal pediatric population, using vaccine coverage data derived from the study design highlighted in Chapter 4. This thesis concludes in Chapter 6, where I summarize key results of the thesis as well as its limitations and overall conclusions, and highlight areas for future research.

2.1 Rotavirus clinical features, epidemiology, and surveillance in the pre-vaccine era

Rotavirus is a highly contagious viral illness that spreads from infected to susceptible persons by fecal-oral transmission via contact with contaminated hands, surfaces, food, or water.¹⁵ Once transmitted, the incubation period is 1-2 days.¹⁶ Although infection may be asymptomatic, the classic clinical presentation includes mild to severe AGE, with non-pathognomonic, generalized symptoms of diarrhea, fever, vomiting, and abdominal pain; infected individuals are most infectious when experiencing AGE symptoms.¹⁶

Rotavirus virions contain two proteins in their outer capsid that can be genotyped to delineate the virion's "G" and "P" genotypes, that when combined together form the binary classification system for a rotavirus strain.¹⁷ There are many rotavirus strains that can infect humans, but approximately 90% of infections in North America during the pre-vaccine era were caused by 3 strains: G1P[8], G2P[4], and G3P[8], with strain G1P[8] typically comprising more than 70% of the rotavirus diarrheal burden.¹⁷ In temperate climates, rotavirus produces annual epidemics with peak disease occurring in winter-spring time periods.¹⁸⁻²⁰ Multiple strains of rotavirus can circulate simultaneously during a season, and predominant strains may fluctuate annually.¹⁷

By 5 years of age, nearly all children had experienced at least one rotavirus infection.¹⁵ Although repeated infection can occur, the first infection is usually the most severe.¹⁵ Among young children residing in Canada, rotavirus was the leading cause of severe AGE,⁵ and during the annual 6- to 7-month peak of a rotavirus season, rotavirus infection represented approximately 40-56% of all-cause AGE hospitalizations and emergency department visits.^{6,21,22} Between 1 in 45 and 1 in 106 Canadian children were hospitalized due to rotavirus infection by 5 years of age, with many more seeking emergency care.^{2,3} Specifically in Quebec, an estimated 50 to 74 per 10,000 children under 5 years of age were hospitalized for rotavirus AGE annually, including hospitalizations in short stay units, while 117 to 152 per 10,000 children under 5 years of age required emergency department care.⁷ Given the high prevalence of severe disease, rotavirus infection was costly and burdensome. Canadians spent approximately \$125 million per birth cohort on rotavirus-related medical expenses by the time the cohort reached 5 years of age.⁸

Since rotavirus diagnosis does not affect the clinical management of patients with rotavirus AGE, diagnostic testing for rotavirus is not routinely performed in healthcare settings.²³ Calculation of the absolute burden of rotavirus illness is thus not possible without significant investment in active surveillance, an approach to monitoring rotavirus disease by prospectively recruiting and testing AGE patients for rotavirus. In contrast, passive surveillance, or monitoring disease trends using existing, administrative healthcare datasets, is a more sustainable approach to monitoring the burden of rotavirus over time, since it relies upon data from routine care. Healthcare utilization data for all-cause AGE is frequently used as a proxy for rotavirus AGE to examine trends in disease over time among pediatric patients.^{7,24-28}

2.2 Rotavirus vaccines

Two oral, live attenuated rotavirus vaccines are currently available for use among infants in Canada.^{9,10} Licensed in 2006, Merck's RV5 vaccine is recommended for routine use as 3 doses administered to children at 2, 4, and 6 months of age, and contains 5 rotavirus genotypes: P[8], G1, G2, G3, G4.⁹ In 2008, GlaxoSmithKline's RV1 vaccine was licensed, and recommended for routine use as 2 doses with administration to children at 2 and 4 months of age; RV1 contains only 1 rotavirus strain: G1P[8].¹⁰

In separate, prelicensure trials of RV5 or RV1 efficacy in high-income settings, both vaccines were found to be highly efficacious to prevent severe rotavirus AGE among pediatric patients.^{29,30} RV5 efficacy was estimated as 93.8% (95% CI: 90.8%, 95.9%) to prevent hospitalizations and emergency department visits due to rotavirus AGE among children up to 3 years of age,³⁰ while efficacy of RV1 was estimated as 90.4% (95% CI: 85.1%, 94.1%) to prevent severe rotavirus AGE, as determined by symptom scores, and 96.0% (95% CI: 83.8%, 99.5%) to prevent rotavirus AGE hospitalizations among children up to 2 years of age.²⁹ Both vaccines were also found to provide significant protection against rotavirus strains not included in their respective formulation; strain-specific estimates, however, were largely imprecise making it difficult to rule out differences in strain-specific RV1 or RV5 vaccine efficacy.^{29,30}

2.3 Quebec rotavirus vaccination program

Although rotavirus vaccine has been available in Canada since 2006, publicly funded provincial and territorial healthcare systems did not initially pay for vaccination. The Province of Quebec opted to add routine childhood rotavirus vaccination to the provincial vaccination formulary on November 1, 2011, but made the decision to exclusively fund RV1 vaccine, in consideration of its cost-effectiveness to prevent severe pediatric rotavirus AGE. Under the program, Quebec residents are eligible to receive RV1 vaccine at no cost, with routine administration at 2 and 4 months of age, and series completion by 8 months of age.³¹ At the time of program implementation, it was recommended that the rotavirus series be initiated before 15 weeks of age;³² this recommendation was later revised to allow series initiation up to 20 weeks of age.³¹ To date, there has been little evaluation of the effect of RV1 vaccination on the burden of pediatric rotavirus AGE in Quebec.^{33,34}

2.4 Vaccine program evaluation

The evaluation of a vaccine program using real-world, post-implementation data is essential to justify its financial costs and scope. Three key indicators frequently used to inform the success of vaccination that are also foci of the present research are evaluation of: (i) vaccine coverage, (ii) the direct effect of vaccination, or vaccine effectiveness, and (iii) the overall effect of vaccination. While measurement of vaccine coverage can inform the success of the implementation of a vaccine program, the direct and overall effects of vaccination examine the consequences of vaccination on a downstream, disease outcome.

2.4.1 Vaccine coverage

Assessment of vaccine coverage among a program's target population is often the principal indicator to evaluate the success of a new vaccine program.³⁵⁻³⁷ Vaccine coverage can inform issues related to program delivery and/or public acceptance of a new vaccine,^{38,39} and stratified estimates among population subgroups can also identify inequities in vaccine coverage.^{37,40,41} Vaccine coverage is estimated by dividing the number that received a vaccine or vaccine series in a specified population (numerator), by the total number of individuals in the same population (denominator);³⁷ this proportion is multiplied by 100 to express vaccine coverage as the percentage of the population that has received a vaccine or vaccine series.

Population surveys are often considered the "gold standard" approach to produce valid and precise vaccine coverage estimates in many jurisdictions, including the Province of Quebec.^{36-38,42-44} Survey methods are implemented to recruit a representative sample of the population of interest,^{36,43,45,46} and key population subgroups can be oversampled to ensure estimate precision.⁴⁶ Advantages of survey methods are that the underlying population need not be explicitly defined in

a jurisdiction, since the population surveyed is used as the coverage denominator,⁴⁴ and that a standardized protocol can be used to derive comparable estimates of coverage over time, even across a large population.⁴² A disadvantage of immunization surveys, however, is that they are potentially costly to implement, as they require significant human resources to design, recruit, enroll and interview participants, and verify their immunizations.^{36,44,46} Further, survey administrators face challenges to recruit a representative sample of the population, particularly with the rise of new technology,^{43,47} such as cellular phones and caller identification. Though some population-based surveys have adapted survey protocols to address changes in technology by expanding recruitment procedures to include random-digit dialing of cellular phones,⁴⁷ or additional attempts to contact eligible participants via mail,⁴³ challenges to recruit representative populations in a jurisdiction still remain.

An alternative method to ascertain vaccine coverage is to use administrative data to derive coverage estimates, such as a population-based registry of immunization records or a health insurance database.^{36,41,42,44,45} Advantages of using administrative data are reduced costs, ease of implementation, and the ability to rapidly examine the uptake of vaccine in a population after the implementation of a new vaccine program.⁴⁴ Yet, the validity of coverage estimates derived from these databases depend upon the accuracy and reliability of the administrative system to record the relevant immunizations administered to the population of interest, and enumerate the population denominator, regardless of an individual's immunization status.^{36,42,44} Additionally, administrative methods are not appropriate to measure vaccine coverage across a large population where the quality of administrative data varies by geographic region or subpopulation.⁴²

Given differential biases and limitations of survey versus administrative methods, recent research has investigated the effect of combining methods and/or datasets to derive vaccine coverage, based upon the premise that combined data can improve the accuracy of coverage estimates.^{41,42,45} Alternatively, researchers have compared estimates from survey and/or administrative systems as a means of validating alternate methods of deriving vaccine coverage estimates in a population.^{44,45}

2.4.2 Measurement of the effects of vaccination

Due to the infectious nature and transmissibility of communicable diseases, any public health intervention, such as vaccination, which targets a communicable disease has the potential to exert influence on the disease outcome via two different pathways, acting either: (i) *directly*,

where persons exposed have a different risk of infection than unexposed persons due to receipt of the intervention, and/or (ii) *indirectly*, where the presence of the exposure within a jurisdiction can affect the transmission and prevalence of the disease in the population, which, in turn, can subsequently affect the disease incidence at a later timepoint in the general population (comprised of both exposed and unexposed individuals).¹¹⁻¹⁴ In their seminal paper, "*Study designs for dependent happenings*", Halloran and Struchiner (1991) explain this phenomenon and introduce 4 study designs to measure the 4 different effects that can arise from a public health intervention that targets a communicable disease.¹⁴ These 4 study designs are presented here in **Figure 2-1** from Halloran and Struchiner's 1991 paper,¹⁴ and describe measurement of the direct, indirect, total, and overall effects of vaccination. Subsequent discussion of these effects will only focus upon the direct and overall effects of vaccination, since these are foci in the present thesis research.



Figure 2-1. Halloran and Struchiner (1991) study designs to measure vaccination effects.⁴⁶

2.4.3 Direct effect of vaccination

The direct effect of vaccination compares the risk or rate of a disease outcome among vaccinated persons relative to unvaccinated persons.¹¹⁻¹⁴ In order to isolate the direct effect, vaccinated and unvaccinated persons must be from a population with the same vaccination strategy, thus, cancelling out any observed indirect effects of vaccination.¹¹⁻¹⁴ When the

comparison is performed using "real-world" data, the percentage reduction in the relative risk or rate (RR) of the disease outcome is referred to as vaccine effectiveness, estimated as (1 - RR of a disease outcome) * 100.⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰ The term is often confused with vaccine efficacy,^{48,51} which in contrast to vaccine effectiveness, measures the same percentage reduction using data from a setting in which "ideal" conditions for vaccination were implemented, such as vaccine administration to recipients with a robust immune system, with adherence to the recommended vaccination schedule, and proper procedures for vaccine storage, handling, and dosage.⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰ Whereas vaccine efficacy is typically estimated via a per-protocol analysis of data from vaccine prelicensure phase III studies, *i.e.* randomized controlled trials, vaccine effectiveness is measured in post-licensure, phase IV studies.⁴⁹⁻⁵¹ Since randomized controlled trials are no longer ethical following the licensure of an effective vaccine, vaccine effectiveness is typically assessed using observational data from cohort or case-control study designs.⁵⁰⁻⁵²

Cohort studies can be expensive to estimate vaccine effectiveness, particularly when administrative data is not readily available to track and follow a cohort member's vaccination status, potential confounders, and/or data on a disease outcome over time.⁵¹ As a result, case-control study designs are frequently used to evaluate vaccine effectiveness, since they enable researchers to oversample cases of disease, and thus, estimate vaccine effectiveness with greater efficiency requiring fewer total study participants.⁵¹ In case-control studies, the odds of vaccination are compared between the cases and controls to estimate the odds ratio (OR) of interest.^{13,53-56} When certain design features are implemented, such as sampling study controls in a manner proportional to the amount of person-time contributed in a cohort study, the OR will approximate the RR,^{13,55,57,58} and can be substituted in place of the RR in the vaccine effectiveness formula.^{53,54,59}

One of the biggest challenges of a case-control study is recruitment of study controls who represent the source population of the cases. This presents a challenge especially for vaccine effectiveness studies, where cases of vaccine-preventable disease are frequently ascertained and diagnosed at a healthcare encounter, and people that seek healthcare may also have a different propensity to be vaccinated than other individuals in a population.⁵³⁻⁵⁵ As a result, healthcare-seeking behavior is an important confounder in studies of vaccine effectiveness (**Figure 2-2**).⁵³⁻⁵⁵ To address confounding by healthcare-seeking behavior, several types of case-control studies have been developed to estimate vaccine effectiveness, including the test-negative, case-case, and

indirect cohort case-control designs.^{50,54,55} The motivation for each of these alternative casecontrol study designs is to sample controls from the same source population of the cases, with the same healthcare-seeking behavior.^{50,54,55} The test-negative design is used in this thesis research to estimate RV1 vaccine effectiveness, and is explained in greater detail below.





The test-negative design was originally developed to examine seasonal influenza vaccine effectiveness,^{55,56} but has been increasingly used to estimate rotavirus vaccine effectiveness.⁶⁰⁻⁶⁵ In this design, only patients that are actively seeking medical care for a "syndrome" of clinical symptoms are recruited for study participation.^{53,55,56} Upon enrollment, all study participants are tested for the disease outcome of interest; patients that test positive for the disease are enrolled as study cases, whereas patients that test negative for the disease are enrolled as study controls.^{53,55,56} As with other case-control designs, the odds of vaccination for the disease are compared between the cases and controls to estimate the OR of interest, which is used to calculate vaccine effectiveness.⁵³⁻⁵⁶ **Figure 2-3** (below) is a schematic representation of the test-negative design, implemented to estimate rotavirus vaccine effectiveness.

Figure 2-3. Schematic representation of recruitment and execution of the test-negative casecontrol study design to estimate rotavirus vaccine effectiveness.



Since study participation in a test-negative study is conditional upon seeking medical care, the design is often preferred among researchers because it reduces confounding bias by healthcare-seeking behavior, and is easy to implement.⁵³⁻⁵⁶ Active diagnostic testing of participants for rotavirus additionally reduces confounding bias arising from differential ascertainment of rotavirus cases due to healthcare testing practices.^{54,56} Inclusion of only healthcare-seekers, however, assumes that vaccine effectiveness does not differ by healthcare-seeking behavior.^{53,54,56} Additionally, in using rotavirus-negative patients as controls, the design further assumes that rotavirus vaccination does not affect the incidence or rate of non-rotavirus AGE among healthcare seekers.^{54,55,66}

There have been several studies that examine the validity of the test-negative design to estimate vaccine effectiveness.^{53-56,66-68} These studies have concluded that the test-negative design can be used to produce valid and reliable estimates of vaccine effectiveness, but have also illuminated several design aspects that should be considered to reduce potential biases in vaccine effectiveness estimates derived via the test-negative design.^{53-56,66-68} In particular, simulations have revealed that the diagnostic accuracy of the test used to ascertain the disease status of participants should be high, especially with regard to specificity, which has a greater effect on vaccine effectiveness estimates than sensitivity.^{54,55,66,67} Additionally, other research has shown that the

disease of interest must be circulating during the time period when controls are recruited, since recruiting subjects outside a period of circulation is equivalent to sampling persons in a cohort study that are not at risk of a disease, akin to immortal time bias in a cohort study.⁵⁴ Further, since time can be associated with the risk of the outcome as well as the uptake of the vaccine in a population, adjustment for time is also necessary to reduce bias in vaccine effectiveness estimates.⁵⁴

2.4.4 Overall effect of vaccination

The overall effect of vaccination measures the rate or risk of disease in a population where a vaccine program exists, relative to the rate or risk of disease in a population without such a vaccine program.¹¹⁻¹⁴ The effect is comprised of both direct and indirect effects of vaccination, and represents an average of the observed effects among vaccinated and unvaccinated individuals, weighted by their respective proportion in the population (*i.e.* as determined by vaccine coverage).^{11,13,14,50} The overall effect of vaccination is frequently referred to as the assessment of the "impact" of a vaccination program, and where the effect is characterized as the percentage relative decrease in the RR, or (1 - RR) * 100, the measure may also be referred to as vaccine program effectiveness.^{50,69}

Often, the overall effect of a vaccine program is estimated using an ecological, observational study design comparing rates of disease in a post-vaccine program period with rates of disease for the same population during a pre-vaccine program period.¹³ Because rates of an infectious disease may vary naturally over time in a population, time series methods that can model underlying secular and/or seasonal disease trends are ideally suited to estimate the overall effect of vaccination, and several years of data from pre- and post-vaccine program periods should be included to capture natural variation between seasons.^{13,69,70}

Development of a statistical model to characterize an infectious disease time series, however, is not without challenges. Time series of communicable diseases can exhibit strong autocorrelation, and while the presence of residual autocorrelation in other applications typically only biases standard errors, residual autocorrelation in communicable disease time series can also lead to biased effect measures.^{69,71} Further, it may not be possible to explain natural patterns in a communicable disease time series using solely exogenous explanatory variables, which do not account for the dynamic relationship between susceptible-infected-recovered persons in a population.⁷¹ Additionally, controlling for patterns of communicable disease seasonality can be

difficult, while inadequate adjustment may bias overall effect estimates.⁷² Fortunately, there have been several developments in time series regression in the field of environmental epidemiology that can be applied to communicable disease time series.^{71,73,74} For example, Brumback et al. (2000) suggested the use of transitional regression methods, which include an autoregressive term in generalized linear models to remove strong residual autocorrelation.^{71,73} Further, Lopman et al. (2009) addressed the dynamic relationship between susceptible-infected-recovered persons in time series models that examined the effect of weather on norovirus disease by including a model covariate to account for the number of persons recovered and presumed immune to norovirus, based upon the number previously experiencing the norovirus outcome.^{71,74} Researchers have also included model covariates such as time strata, Fourier terms, or flexible spline functions to successfully adjust for time series seasonality.⁷²

Once estimated, the overall effect of vaccination must be considered in the context of population vaccine coverage, since vaccine uptake influences the magnitude of the overall effect.⁷⁰ As a result, the current practice in evaluation studies is to report the level of vaccine coverage observed in the population, in addition to estimates of the overall effect.^{24,25,27,28,75} Yet, these methods do not readily enable comparisons of the overall effect between similar jurisdictions with differing vaccine programs and discrepant coverage. For example, most systematic reviews and/or meta-analyses (SR/MA) that compare overall effects between vaccine programs report jurisdictional vaccine coverage in their narrative or a results table;⁷⁶⁻⁸⁰ however, when multiple estimates are compared, it is difficult for readers to track and synthesize this information. While other SR/MA account for differences in vaccine coverage by stratifying overall effect estimates by coverage,^{81,82} coverage strata tended to be overly broad (*i.e.* coverage <50% vs. $\geq 50\%$, or low/moderate/high coverage) and are thus, potentially insufficient to adjust for differences in program effects due to vaccine coverage alone.^{81,82} Further, while meta-analyses of the overall effect can directly adjust for vaccine coverage as a covariate in statistical models,⁸³ the overall effect estimates from primary studies may not reflect a post-program period with uniform vaccine coverage, particularly for new vaccine programs, such as rotavirus, where coverage can change rapidly in the population following program implementation;^{24,25,27,28,75} thus, direct adjustment for vaccine coverage in pooled analyses may not be possible or accurate. These scenarios illustrate that current methods can be insufficient to enable meaningful comparisons of the overall effect of vaccination between jurisdictions. Yet, where comparisons of the overall effect do successfully

account for differences due to vaccine coverage, researchers may gain important insights into the consequences of differing vaccine program design choices on population health outcomes, and policy-makers may use this knowledge to improve vaccination programs.

2.5 Evaluation of rotavirus vaccination in Quebec and other high-income countries

Since the licensure of RV5 and RV1 vaccines in many countries throughout the world, there has been much research regarding the effects of rotavirus vaccination.^{24-28,33,60-64,84-117} One finding from these studies is that the effects of rotavirus vaccination differ by country income level, with greater RV1 and RV5 vaccine effectiveness observed in high-income settings compared with middle- and low-income settings.¹¹⁵⁻¹¹⁷ This difference is presumably due to differences in rotavirus epidemiology, circulating strains, and characteristics of the vaccine-eligible population.^{115,116} The following sections examine the current state of knowledge with regard to the evaluation of the Quebec RV1 program, and describe findings of the direct and overall effects of rotavirus vaccination from other high-income settings, since these are most relevant to the Quebec program.

2.5.1 Rotavirus vaccine coverage in Quebec

Since 2006, provincial immunization surveys from the Institut National de Santé Publique du Québec (INSPQ) have been the "gold standard" approach for evaluating population-level vaccine coverage in the Province of Quebec.⁴³ Although these surveys do not provide time series data to evaluate the uptake of a new vaccine over calendar time, INSPQ surveys do provide biennial coverage estimates by vaccine among a population-representative sample of children at 1 and 2 years of age.⁴³ In 2014, or nearly 3 years after the implementation of the rotavirus vaccination, the INSPQ provincial coverage survey reported high, \geq 2-dose rotavirus coverage of 85.9% among children 15 months of age, and 78.2% among children 24 months of age.⁴³ These data demonstrate the rapid, relative success of the Quebec program, with high initial vaccine uptake and sustained coverage during the first 3 years following program implementation. In comparison, 3 years after the United States (U.S.) implemented a rotavirus vaccination program, the average rotavirus \geq 1-dose coverage was 72% among sentinel locations, ranging from 48% to 86%.¹¹⁸

Currently, there are no administrative datasets in Quebec that can be used to examine vaccine coverage at the provincial level. Vaccine administration information is not captured in healthcare administrative billing data among Quebec provincial insurance recipients. Although Quebec recently introduced a province-wide population immunization registry in June 2014, the roll-out of the registry is gradual and it is not expected to cover all regions of Quebec until December 2018.^{118,119}

2.5.2 Direct effects of rotavirus vaccination

Given differences in formulations and dosing, comparison of the direct effect, or vaccine effectiveness, of RV1 and RV5 is of considerable interest.^{60-62,64,84-87} Results from post-licensure evaluations in high-income jurisdictions with concurrent RV1 and RV5 use reveal high, indistinguishable effectiveness of each vaccine of >70% to prevent rotavirus hospitalizations and emergency department visits.^{60-62,64,84-87} RV5 vaccine effectiveness was similar in several high-income locales with exclusive RV5 use, either prior to RV1 licensure, or in a jurisdiction with its exclusive reimbursement.^{63,88-93}

Little research exists, however, that examines the effectiveness of RV1 in a high-income, non-outbreak setting where RV1 vaccine is predominantly used over RV5 vaccine.¹²⁰ To our knowledge, RV1 vaccine effectiveness in a high-income, non-outbreak setting where RV1 is predominantly used was only assessed in Belgium, prior to this thesis.¹²⁰ In Belgium, RV1 vaccine effectiveness was estimated as 90% to prevent hospitalization.¹²⁰ Additional research to examine RV1 vaccine effectiveness in this setting is important, since simultaneous uptake of RV5 vaccine in the population can impact rotavirus transmission dynamics and strain circulation, factors which may also influence RV1 vaccine effectiveness.¹³

A recent systematic review was performed to further investigate strain-specific effectiveness of RV1 and RV5 in high-income settings.¹¹⁷ Although its authors did not detect significant differences by strain for either RV1 or RV5 vaccine, in general, confidence intervals for strain-specific vaccine effectiveness were wide, particularly for RV1, and only a small number of studies (*i.e.* n=1 or n=2) were retrieved to address RV1 effectiveness by rotavirus strain.¹¹⁷ Because even small differences in strain-specific vaccine effectiveness can introduce strain-specific selection pressures and change the prevalence of circulating rotavirus strains in a region following the uptake of a rotavirus vaccine,^{117,121,122} additional evaluation of RV1 effectiveness in high-income settings where it is predominantly used is necessary to ensure that RV1 vaccine is

similarly effective compared with concurrent-use settings. Additionally, researchers should also monitor circulating rotavirus strains in the post-vaccine period to ensure that strain replacement does not occur. ^{117,121,122}

2.5.3 Overall effects of rotavirus vaccination

In general, evaluations of RV5 and/or RV1 vaccination programs in high-income countries have found large and sustained reductions in pediatric all-cause and rotavirus-specific AGE healthcare utilization, including hospitalizations and emergency department visits.^{24-28,33,93-114} Relatively few of these studies, however, have used time series methods to adjust for seasonal and secular trends to estimate reductions in disease to estimate reductions in hospitalizations.^{24,26,28,106-¹⁰⁸ Failure to account for annual rotavirus secular variation may bias estimated reductions in rotavirus incidence, with the direction and magnitude of the bias depending on the representativeness of rotavirus transmission in the seasons used for comparison.¹²³}

Specifically, only two, recently published manuscripts have examined the effect of a RV1only vaccination program on weekly all-cause AGE hospitalizations via time series analysis in high-income jurisdictions.^{24,28} Among children less than 1 year of age in England, a relative reduction of 26% (95% CI: 16%, 35%) in weekly all-cause AGE hospitalizations was observed in the first year following the implementation of the vaccination program relative to the pre-vaccine period, with 93% RV1 2-dose vaccine coverage observed among children of this age group.²⁴ In the Province of Ontario, a 20% (95% CI: 1%, 35%) relative reduction in weekly all-cause AGE hospitalizations was estimated in the 1.5 years post-implementation of the vaccine program relative to the pre-vaccine period among children less than 1 year of age, with RV1 2-dose coverage among this age group of 87%.²⁸ While these studies provide early data to document the relative success of RV1-only vaccination programs, both analyze less than 1.5 years of data from a post-vaccine period,^{24,28} which may be insufficient to accurately characterize average reductions in the post-vaccine period, particularly given the natural seasonal variation in rotavirus AGE in the pre-vaccine era.⁷⁰

Time series analyses from RV5-only or RV5 and RV1 concurrent programs found similar declines in all-cause AGE hospitalizations.^{106,107} In Finland, a 24.2% (95% CI: 12.8%, 34.1%) relative reduction in weekly cause-unspecified AGE hospitalizations was observed among children less than 1 year of age in the 1 year following RV5 program implementation, with >95% 3-dose RV5 coverage among the same age group.¹⁰⁶ In the United States (U.S.) prior to use of RV1

vaccine, a relative reduction of 39% (95% CI: 29%, 48%) was observed in monthly causeunspecified AGE hospitalizations among children 0 to 4 years of age in the 1 year following the implementation of an RV5 program, with modest coverage of 56% among children 1 year of age.¹⁰⁷ In Spain, a setting with concurrent RV5 and RV1 use, but without a national immunization program, a 2% (95% CI: 1%, 3%) relative decrease was observed in the trend of weekly all-cause AGE hospitalizations in the 6.5 years following rotavirus vaccine licensure relative to the prevaccine period, with reported coverage of approximately 40%.¹⁰⁸ In the U.S. during a period with concurrent RV5 and RV1 vaccination, a 42% (95% CI: 34%, 50%) relative decline in monthly cause-unspecified AGE hospitalizations among children 0 to 4 years of age was observed in the 3year period post-implementation of a rotavirus vaccine program relative to the pre-vaccine period, with vaccine coverage unspecified.²⁶

In Quebec, there has only been one evaluation of the overall effect of the RV1 program, using recent data from two hospitals.³³ While the authors found a significant reduction in the proportion of pediatric emergency department visits attributable to AGE, the analysis was restricted to a simple pre- and post-program comparison via a chi-square statistical test, and the authors did not account for rotavirus secular trends or seasonality in their analyses.³³

In summary, while there is evidence to support the success of RV1 and/or RV5 vaccine programs, much of the current research has not used methods to adequately account for secular and seasonal variation in rotavirus AGE. Further, when appropriate statistical methods were used to evaluate the overall effect of a RV1 vaccine program, data in the post-vaccine period was limited to less than 2 seasons. Since significant variation in the burden of pediatric rotavirus AGE existed in the pre-vaccine period,⁷⁰ data from multiple, post-vaccine seasons is critical to accurately characterize the average overall effect of an RV1-only vaccination program. Further, adequate methods to account for secular and seasonal trends must be used to accurately characterize the RV1 vaccination program in Quebec.

Chapter 3: Effectiveness of monovalent rotavirus vaccine in a high-income, predominant-use setting

3.1 Preface

As described in Chapter 2, there is little research that examines the effectiveness of RV1 in a high-income, non-outbreak setting where RV1 vaccine is predominantly used over RV5 vaccine. Additional research to examine RV1 vaccine effectiveness in this setting is important, since simultaneous uptake of RV5 vaccine in the population can impact rotavirus transmission dynamics and strain circulation, factors which may also influence RV1 vaccine effectiveness.¹³ In the following manuscript (Manuscript 1), I examine RV1 effectiveness to prevent emergency department visits and hospitalizations using a test-negative case-control design and data from active rotavirus surveillance of children less than 3 years of age implemented at three hospitals in the Province of Quebec. Additionally, I compare the relative proportion of rotavirus positive specimens in the post-vaccine era over time concurrently with increasing population vaccine coverage, and examine circulating rotavirus genotypes in the post-vaccine era.

Manuscript 1 was published in the peer-reviewed journal, Vaccine.¹²⁴

3.2 Manuscript

Effectiveness of monovalent rotavirus vaccine in a high-income, predominant-use setting

Margaret K. Doll¹, MPH, David L. Buckeridge¹, MD, PhD, Kathryn T. Morrison¹, MSc, Arnaud Gagneur², MD, PhD, Bruce Tapiero³, MD, PhD, Hugues Charest⁴, PhD, Caroline Quach^{1,5}, MD, MSc

Affiliations:

¹McGill University, Montreal, QC;
²Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC;
³Sainte-Justine University Hospital, Montreal, QC;
⁴Laboratoire de santé publique du Quebec (LSPQ), Sainte-Anne-de-Bellevue, Montreal, QC;
⁵The Montreal Children's Hospital, Montreal, QC

Funding source: This study was supported by a research grant from GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals SA (GSK).

Financial Disclosure: Arnaud Gagneur has previously received funding from GlaxoSmithKline (speaker, honoraria), Merck (research grant or support, speaker/honoraria), Sanofi-Pasteur MSD (research grant or support, speaker/honoraria), & Wyeth (research grant or support, speaker/honoraria. Bruce Tapiero has received research grant or support from Novartis and Sanofi-Pasteur. Caroline Quach has received funding from GlaxoSmithKline, Pfizer, Sage and AbbVie (all for research grant or support). The remaining authors have no financial relationships relevant to this article to disclose.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to disclose. GSK did not participate in any of the protocol writing, planning, implementation, analysis or study writing of this study but did review the final version of the manuscript.

Abstract

Background & objectives: We assessed monovalent rotavirus (RV1) vaccine effectiveness in a high-income setting with RV1 predominant use, and examined the burden of pediatric rotavirus gastroenteritis following the implementation of an RV1-only vaccination program.

Methods: We conducted active rotavirus gastroenteritis surveillance among children 8 weeks to less than 3 years of age at three hospitals. Participant information and vaccination histories were collected via parent/guardian interview and medical records. Stool specimens were tested for rotavirus; positive specimens were genotyped. The effect of increasing RV1 coverage on rotavirus prevalence was examined as a weekly time series via binomial regression with a log link function, using either categorical season or mean 2-dose rotavirus seasonal vaccine coverage as the exposure variable. As compared with RV1 vaccine formulation, rotavirus genotypes were classified as homotypic, partly-heterotypic, or heterotypic; prevalence of each was compared by season. A test-negative case-control design was used to examine RV1 vaccine effectiveness against hospitalization or emergency visits.

Results: We enrolled 866 participants in active surveillance; of these, 374 (43.2%) were eligible for vaccine effectiveness analyses. After adjustment for season, we detected a 70.1% (95% CI: 21.9%, 88.6%) relative decrease in rotavirus prevalence in the 2013-14 season compared with 2012-13 season. On average, a 1% increase in \geq 2-dose rotavirus coverage among children 1 year of age was associated with a 3.8% (95% CI: 1.8%, 5.8%) relative decrease in rotavirus prevalence. Rotavirus homotypic strain prevalence decreased, with 77% (95% CI: 68%, 89%) versus 8% (95% CI: 0%, 36%) prevalence during the 2011-12 and 2013-14 seasons, respectively. Adjusted 2-dose RV1 vaccine effectiveness was 91.2% (95% CI: 61.6%, 98.0%).

Conclusions: RV1 vaccine was highly effective to prevent rotavirus hospitalizations and emergency visits among children less than 3 years of age in a high-income setting with its predominant use. Our estimates were similar to high-income settings with concurrent RV1 and pentavalent vaccine use.

Keywords: rotavirus, vaccination, effectiveness

Introduction

Rotavirus was the major cause of pediatric gastroenteritis among Canadian children during the pre-vaccine era.¹⁻⁷ Before vaccination, up to 1 in 40 Canadian children <5 years of age required hospitalization or emergency care annually for rotavirus gastroenteritis.⁷ Two oral rotavirus childhood vaccines are licensed in Canada:^{9,10} *Rotarix*[®] (RV1; trademark of the GlaxoSmithKline group of companies), a monovalent vaccine containing strain G1P[8], administered as a 2-dose series, and *RotaTeq*[®] (RV5; trademark of Merck & Co., Inc.), a pentavalent vaccine containing strains G1-G4 and P[8], administered as a 3-dose series. As of September 2014, 9 Canadian provinces and territories adopted public reimbursement for RV1-only under provincial insurance plans; the remaining 4 provinces and territories do not reimburse for either vaccine.¹²⁵

Given differences in formulations and dosing, comparison of the direct effect, or vaccine effectiveness, of RV1 and RV5 is of considerable interest.^{60-62,64,84-87} Results from post-licensure evaluations in high-income jurisdictions with concurrent RV1 and RV5 use reveal high, indistinguishable effectiveness of each vaccine of >70% to prevent rotavirus hospitalizations and emergency visits.^{60-62,64,84-87} RV5 vaccine effectiveness was similar in several high-income locales with exclusive RV5 use - either prior to RV1 licensure, or in a jurisdiction with its exclusive reimbursement.^{63,88-93} Since effects of concurrent RV1 and RV5 use may differ from exclusive RV1 use, it is important to evaluate RV1 vaccine effectiveness in settings without concurrent RV5 vaccination. However, to our knowledge, RV1 effectiveness in a high-income, non-outbreak setting where RV1 is predominantly used has only been assessed in Belgium.¹²⁰

We conducted a test-negative case-control study to assess RV1 vaccine effectiveness to prevent rotavirus emergency visits and hospitalizations among young children in a Canadian setting with predominant RV1-use, and examined the effect of increasing vaccination coverage on the prevalence of pediatric rotavirus over time.

Materials and methods

Study setting

In November 2011, Quebec implemented a publicly-funded RV1 vaccination program with its routine administration at 2 and 4 months of age. From February 1, 2012 – May 31, 2014, we conducted prospective, active surveillance for acute rotavirus gastroenteritis at The Montreal Children's Hospital and Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Sainte-Justine, located in Montreal, and
Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Sherbrooke, located in Sherbrooke. Active surveillance was approved by Research Ethics Boards at each hospital.

Patient recruitment & eligibility

Patients 8 weeks to less than 3 years of age, hospitalized or seeking emergency care for acute gastroenteritis, whose parent or legal guardian consented to be contacted for research were eligible for recruitment. Acute gastroenteritis was defined as (i) diarrhea (liquid stools for >12 hours with \geq 3 stools in a 24-hour period), (ii) vomiting (\geq 1 episode in a 24-hour period), or (iii) an emergency department diagnosis of diarrhea, vomiting, or gastroenteritis; where symptom onset occurred within \leq 7 days of presentation. Patients were excluded if rotavirus vaccination was contraindicated per the Quebec Immunization Protocol.¹²⁶ Written consent to participate was obtained from a parent or legal guardian of participants.

Data collection & laboratory testing

Participant information was systematically collected via parental phone interview and medical chart review. Participant vaccination history, including vaccine date and type, was obtained in reference to the participant's immunization booklet; if unavailable at the time of interview, permission was requested to contact the participant's medical provider for vaccination information.

Stool samples were obtained at study recruitment from specimens collected at home or retrieved from emergency or hospital care, and stored at -80°C until viral testing. All stool were initially tested for rotavirus via enzyme immunoassay (EIA; Premier[™] Rotaclone[®], Meridian Bioscience, Inc.). Rotavirus-positives were confirmed via real-time reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reactions (RT-PCR) according to protocols outlined by Gentsch et al;¹²⁷ RT-PCR results were used in the event of discordant EIA results. Rotavirus genotyping was performed as described in Chetrit et al.¹²⁸

Time series analyses of rotavirus burden

Using active surveillance data, we examined rotavirus prevalence over time. We defined rotavirus seasons 2011-12, 2012-13, and 2013-14 as the periods, February 2012 – May 2012, June 2012 - May 2013, and June 2013 – May 2014, respectively. June was chosen as the annual starting month in accordance with previous research examining rotavirus activity in Quebec.¹

Since our data were limited to the post-vaccine period, we sought to examine the effect of increasing rotavirus vaccination coverage on our dependent variable, the proportion of weekly positive rotavirus cases out of total gastroenteritis cases, among all active surveillance participants. We used binomial regression with a log link function to examine two different characterizations of our exposure: (i) categorical season, and (ii) mean 2-dose rotavirus vaccination coverage among children 1 year (12 to 23 months) of age, for each rotavirus season. A log link function was used instead of a logit because we regarded prevalence ratios as more meaningful than prevalence odds ratios.¹²⁹ An annual sine term was used to adjust for seasonal cycles in both models.

For analyses using categorical season, the 2012-13 season was used as the referent period. For coverage analyses, we estimated rotavirus vaccination coverage for each season based upon \geq 2-dose rotavirus vaccination coverage among rotavirus-negative, active surveillance participants, 1 year of age. We assessed coverage among rotavirus-negative participants only because we assumed that rotavirus vaccination did not affect the risk of non-rotavirus, acute gastroenteritis etiologies. Coverage was examined among children 1 year of age because this age-group was more frequently hospitalized for acute rotavirus gastroenteritis in Canada,^{2,3} and therefore, we hypothesized that vaccination coverage among this age group was more likely to directly impact measured rotavirus gastroenteritis. In these analyses, binomial regression was implemented in a Bayesian hierarchical framework to account for uncertainty in rotavirus coverage estimates. Because of its natural bounds between 0 and 1, a beta distribution was used for each vaccine coverage estimate with parameters for the three seasons selected based upon vaccine coverage data for that period. This approach to modeling is more conservative than using coverage point estimates without accounting for uncertainty from small sample sizes. Non-informative, normal priors with mean=0 and variance=1,000 were used for regression parameters. Parameter estimates were obtained using Markov chain Monte Carlo methods, running three parallel chains for 100,000 iterations, with a burn-in of 10,000 iterations. Convergence was assessed with trace plots and the Gelman-Rubin statistic.¹³⁰

Rotavirus genotypes

Rotavirus genotypes were examined among rotavirus-positive active surveillance cases. Rotavirus strains were classified as vaccine: (i) homotypic (strain G1P[8]), (ii) partly-heterotypic, (any strain inclusive of either G1 or P[8] antigens), and (iii) heterotypic, (any strain exclusive of both G1 and P[8] antigens). Prevalence and 95% confidence intervals were assessed by season. Monthly prevalence was examined graphically using a simple, backwards, six-month moving average.

Vaccine effectiveness study design & case-control ascertainment

RV1 vaccine effectiveness was investigated using a subset of active surveillance participants age-eligible to receive 2-doses of RV1 vaccine, defined as participants (i) <15 weeks of age as of program implementation (November 1, 2011), and (ii) \geq 16 weeks of age at symptom onset. These ages corresponded to the maximum recommended age of administration for the first RV1 dose at program implementation,¹³¹ and the recommended age of second dose administration, respectively.

We used a test-negative case-control study design, where cases were defined as rotaviruspositive and controls as rotavirus-negative participants. This design has been used previously in rotavirus vaccine effectiveness studies.^{60-62,64,84} Since we viewed time as a strong potential confounder because of its relationship with both (i) rotavirus vaccine uptake, due to the recent RV1 program implementation, and (ii) risk of severe rotavirus gastroenteritis, due to rotavirus seasonality & changes in circulation over time, we used risk set sampling with variable ratio optimal matching to match up to 8 controls to each case based upon symptom onset date ± 15 days; matching was performed using *dist* & *vmatch* SAS macros.¹³²

Vaccine effectiveness estimation

We estimated RV1 vaccine effectiveness of 2- versus 0-doses and \geq 1- versus 0-dose to prevent rotavirus hospitalization or emergency visits. Only valid RV1 vaccinations administered \geq 14 days prior to symptom onset were considered. Children vaccinated with RV5 (private market, minimal penetrance) were excluded.

RV1 vaccine effectiveness was estimated as $(1 - \text{exposure odds ratio})*100.^{59}$ Based upon our sampling scheme, the exposure odds ratio from our analyses approximates the rate ratio.¹³³

To account for matching, we used conditional logistic regression to estimate the exposure odds ratio. Further, since variable ratio matching was used, we used a schema to weight each control as 1 over the total number of controls matched to "their" respective case to account for differences in the number of controls per case.¹³⁴ Multivariable analyses were adjusted for study location, current breastfeeding status, and continuous participant age, confounders determined *a priori*. Given that Quebec daycares and schools do not require vaccination for entry, we did not

view attendance as a potential confounder since it was unlikely to be associated with vaccine uptake.

All analyses were performed using SAS version 9.3 statistical software (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC), or RStudio version 0.98.1103 (Boston, MA). Bayesian modeling was performed using the R2jags package¹³⁵ that incorporates JAGS statistical program¹³⁶ version 3.4.0.

Results

Study population

From February 1, 2012 - May 31, 2014, we enrolled 866 of 4,849 (17.9%) eligible patients with acute gastroenteritis in active surveillance (**Figure 3-1A**). Of these, 728 (84.1%) participants were included in active surveillance analyses; 144 (19.8%) were rotavirus-positive. Rotavirus \geq 1dose coverage was 46.4% (95% CI: 42.8%, 50.1%) among all active surveillance participants; among those vaccinated, 91.4% (95% CI: 87.9%, 93.9%) received RV1 only (*i.e.* not RV5).

Among active surveillance participants, 384 (52.7%) were age-eligible to receive 2 rotavirus vaccine doses; of these, 374 (97.4%) were eligible for vaccine effectiveness analyses (**Figure 3-1B**). Among vaccine effectiveness participants, 32 (8.6%) tested rotavirus-positive and were considered eligible cases.

Characteristics of active surveillance and vaccine effectiveness study participants by rotavirus status are examined in **Table 3-1**. On average, active surveillance rotavirus-positive participants were 7.1 (95% CI: 5.7, 8.6) months older than rotavirus-negative participants. The distribution of rotavirus-positive active surveillance cases differed by study location and onset year, with rotavirus-positive active surveillance participants less likely to present at the Sainte-Justine study location, or in the final year of the study period. Rotavirus-positive active surveillance participants were also more likely to be unvaccinated compared with rotavirus-negative participants. Similar trends were found when comparing rotavirus-positive and -negative vaccine effectiveness participants.

Of the 32 eligible cases for vaccine effectiveness analyses, 30 (93.8%) matched with ≥ 1 control, with a total of 156 matched controls retained (median: 5.5 controls/case). The absolute mean difference between symptom onset date of cases and controls after matching was 5.0 (95% CI: 4.3, 5.7) days.

Time series analyses of rotavirus burden

The prevalence of rotavirus-positive active surveillance cases and \geq 2-dose rotavirus coverage among 1-year old, rotavirus-negative children is presented over time in **Figure 3-2**. Mean age of rotavirus-positive participants was 20.5 (95% CI: 18.3, 22.8), 23.9 (95% CI: 22.1, 25.7) and 25.0 (95% CI: 20.9, 29.1) months for the 2011-12, 2012-13, and 2013-14 seasons, respectively. On average, rotavirus-positive participants in 2011-12 were 3.4 (95% CI: 0.5, 6.2) and 4.5 (-0.1, 9.1) months younger than in 2012-13 and 2013-14 seasons, respectively.

After adjustment for season, we estimated a 70.1% (95% CI: 21.9%, 88.6%) relative decrease in rotavirus prevalence in 2013-14 compared with the 2012-13 season; no relative difference was found between 2011-12 and 2012-13 seasons (RR: 1.2, 95% CI: 0.5, 2.5).

Mean 2-dose rotavirus coverage was 7.3% (95% CI: 2.5%, 19.4%), 35.0% (95% CI: 26.4%, 44.8%), and 82.9% (95% CI: 72.9%, 89.7%) among children 1 year of age during the 2011-12, 2012-13, and 2013-14 seasons, respectively. Figure 3 illustrates these data as beta distributions, incorporated in our hierarchical model. After adjustment for season, we found that on average, a 1% increase in \geq 2-dose rotavirus coverage among children 1 year of age was associated with a 3.8% (95% CI: 1.8%, 5.8%) relative decrease in rotavirus prevalence.

Rotavirus genotypes

Rotavirus G- and P-genotypes were typed for 134 of 144 (93%) rotavirus-positive specimens. Vaccine homotypic strains represented 47% (95% CI: 39%, 57%) of specimens, while prevalence of heterotypic and partly-heterotypic specimens was 28% (95% CI: 20%, 38%) and 25% (95% CI: 16%, 34%), respectively. Among heterotypic strains (n=38), 97% (95% CI: 87%, 100%) were G2P[4], and 3% (95% CI: 0%, 13%) were G9P[4]. Among partly-heterotypic strains (n=33), 55% (95% CI: 39%, 71%) were G9P[8], followed by 15% (95% CI: 0%, 32%), 12% (95% CI: 0%, 29%), 12% (95% CI: 0%, 29%), and 6% (95% CI: 0%, 23%) of G12P[8], G10P[8], G3P[8], and G2P[8], respectively.

Rotavirus strains are examined over time in **Figure 3-4**. Generally, homotypic strain prevalence decreased over time with 77% (95% CI: 68%, 89%), 31% (95% CI: 19%, 44%), and 8% (95% CI: 0%, 36%) prevalence during 2011-12, 2012-13, and 2013-14 seasons, respectively. Heterotypic strain prevalence was lowest for the 2011-12 season, representing 8% (05% CI: 0%, 19%) of rotavirus gastroenteritis, in comparison with 46% (95% CI: 34%, 59%) and 23% (95% CI: 8%, 51%) during 2012-13 and 2013-14 seasons, respectively. Partly-heterotypic prevalence

was highest in the 2013-14 season, representing 69% (95% CI: 54%, 98%) of rotavirus-positive specimens, while prevalence during 2011-12 and 2012-13 seasons was 15% (95% CI: 6%, 26%) and 24% (95% CI: 12%, 37%), respectively.

RV1 vaccine effectiveness

The unadjusted vaccine effectiveness of 2- versus 0-doses of RV1 against emergency visits and hospitalizations was estimated as 93.8% (95% CI: 78.3%, 98.2%); adjusted vaccine effectiveness was 91.2% (95% CI: 61.6%, 98.0%). Unadjusted RV1 vaccine effectiveness of \geq 1-versus 0- doses was 94.7% (95% CI: 81.5%, 98.5%); adjusted vaccine effectiveness was 92.5% (95% CI: 69.3%, 98.2%).

Table 3-1. Characteristics of active surveillance and eligible vaccine effectiveness study participants by etiology. Data represent n and %(95% CI) unless otherwise specified.

Variable	Active Surveillance: Rotavirus-negative		Active Surveillance: Rotavirus-positive		Vaccine Effectiveness: Rotavirus-negative		Vaccine Effectiveness: Rotavirus-positive	
	N=584	% (95% CI)	N=144	% (95% CI)	N=342	% (95% CI)	N=32	% (95% CI)
Age at onset (months)								
Mean (95% CI)	15.6	(14.9, 16.2)	22.7	(21.4, 24.0)	12.6	(11.9, 13.3)	16.6	(14.3, 18.9)
Sex: Male	306+	53 (49, 57)	73	51 (43, 59)	188+	56 (50, 61)	12	38 (21, 54)
Study Hospital Location								
Montreal Children's	257	44 (40, 49)	73	51 (42, 59)	125	37 (31, 43)	16	50 (34, 69)
Sherbrooke	162	28 (23, 32)	60	42 (33, 50)	81	24 (18, 30)	11	34 (19, 53)
Sainte-Justine	165	28 (24, 33)	11	8 (0, 16)	136	40 (34, 46)	5	16 (0, 35)
Onset Year								
February 2012 - May 2012	106	18 (14, 23)	55	38 (30, 47)	12	4 (0, 9)	4	13 (0, 30)
June 2012 - May 2013	252	43 (39, 48)	75	52 (44, 61)	138	40 (35, 46)	18	56 (41, 74)
June 2013 - May 2014	226	39 (35, 43)	14	10 (1, 18)	192	56 (51, 62)	10	31 (16, 49)
Underlying Condition : Yes	33	6 (4, 8)	13	9 (4, 14)	27	8 (5, 11)	3	9 (0, 19)
Hospitalized: Yes	75++	13 (10, 16)	27++	19 (12, 25)	45++	13 (10, 17)	4	13 (1, 24)
Rotavirus vaccination								
0-doses	253	43 (39, 48)	135	94 (91, 98)	62	18 (14, 23)	24	75 (63, 90)
1-dose	47	8 (4, 12)	1	1 (0, 5)	26	8 (3, 12)	1	3 (0, 18)
≥2-doses	280	48 (44, 52)	8	6 (3, 10)	254	74 (70, 79)	7	22 (9, 37)
Unknown	4	1 (0, 5)	0	0 (0, 4)	N/A		N/A	

+excludes missing data (n=5); ++excluded missing data (n=1)

Figure 3-1. Flow diagram of active surveillance (A) and vaccine effectiveness (B) study participants.



Figure 3-2. Frequency and percentage of rotavirus-positive active surveillance cases and 2-dose rotavirus vaccination coverage over time. Frequencies are illustrated on the left y-axis, while percentages correspond to the right y-axis. Two-dose rotavirus coverage was estimated among rotavirus-negative children aged 1 year at symptom onset and smoothed for display purposes using a simple, 6-month, backwards moving average.



Figure 3-3. Beta distributions for mean annual 2-dose rotavirus coverage among rotavirus -negative participants aged 1-year for each rotavirus season. Beta distributions of rotavirus vaccination coverage were used in place of seasonal coverage point estimates in the hierarchical model to estimate the effect of rotavirus vaccination coverage on rotavirus prevalence.







Discussion

We examined the effect of increasing rotavirus vaccine coverage on rotavirus prevalence and assessed RV1 vaccine effectiveness in a setting with predominant RV1 use. With 2.5 years of post-implementation data, increasing rotavirus vaccine coverage was associated with a decrease in rotavirus prevalence over time, and on average, a 1% increase in 2-dose RV1 coverage among children 1 year of age was associated with a nearly 4% relative decrease in rotavirus prevalence among children less than 3 years of age. RV1 was highly effective in preventing rotavirus hospitalizations and emergency visits, with >90% vaccine effectiveness of ≥ 1 or 2 doses of RV1.

While rotavirus prevalence did not significantly differ in the first two seasons following RV1 program implementation, we saw a dramatic relative decline of >70% during the 2013-14 season, or 1.5 years following RV1 program implementation. Although we cannot directly compare these data to pre-vaccine seasons, delays between rotavirus vaccination implementation and reductions in pediatric rotavirus gastroenteritis have been observed in other jurisdictions.^{93,99,101} The apparent lag may be due to the gradual uptake of vaccine and rotavirus transmission dynamics. In studies from the pre-vaccine era, Canadian children 1 year of age were more frequently hospitalized for rotavirus infection in comparison with children <1 or \geq 2 years.^{2,3} Among this age group, rotavirus coverage was <40% for seasons 2011-12 and 2012-13, and >80% coverage by the 2013-14 season. Therefore, we hypothesize that a delay may be in part due to the lag between vaccine program implementation and eligible vaccine recipients to grow into a higher risk age group for rotavirus hospitalizations or emergency visits. We also observed an increase in mean age of rotavirus-positive participants over time, likely due to gradual depletion of rotavirus susceptibles among younger age groups, eligible for – and receiving – rotavirus vaccination.

Our RV1 vaccine effectiveness estimates were similar to estimates from studies examining RV1 in high-income settings.^{60-62,64,84,85,120} Among jurisdictions with concurrent RV5- and RV1use, RV1 vaccine effectiveness estimates ranged from 70-98% in preventing rotavirus hospitalizations and/or emergency visits.^{60-62,64,84,85} In Belgium, where RV1 vaccine was predominantly used over RV5, 2-dose RV1 vaccine effectiveness was estimated at 90% (95% CI: 81%, 95%) in preventing hospitalization.¹²⁰ On the basis of these estimates and our data, RV1 vaccine effectiveness in jurisdictions with predominant RV1 use appears to be similar to concurrent RV5 and RV1 use settings. We also observed an increase in partly-heterotypic and heterotypic strains over time, coinciding with a decrease in homotypic strains. During the season prior to vaccination, a Quebec study found that heterotypic strain G9P[8] and homotypic G1P[8] predominated, representing 49% and 36% of rotavirus strains, respectively.¹³⁷ Although we assessed strain distributions in the 3 seasons post-vaccine implementation, rotavirus strains frequently varied in the pre-vaccine era.^{117,138} In Australian jurisdictions with exclusive RV1 programs, predominant strains have also varied in the post-vaccine era, with predominance of genotypes G2 and G9 in 2007-08,¹³⁹ G2P[4] in the 2008-09 season,¹⁴⁰ G1P[8] during 2009-10 and 2010-11 seasons,^{141,142} G2P[4] in 2012,¹⁴³ and finally G3P[8] in 2013.¹⁴⁴ Analyses in Belgium, however, found predominant circulation of genotype G2 during 5 of 6 years post-RV1 vaccination.¹⁴⁵ In the neighboring United States, strain G1P[8] predominated in the first season post-RV5 implementation (2006-07), with increases in G3P[8] and G9P[8] prevalence in subsequent 2007-08 and 2008-09 seasons.¹¹⁷ Continued strain surveillance in Quebec is essential to understand longitudinal trends of circulating strains during the post-vaccine era.

Our analyses have several limitations. First, active surveillance was limited to the postvaccine era, and we were unable to directly examine rotavirus vaccine *program* effectiveness. However, we provide meaningful data to inform its impact by examining rotavirus prevalence in relation to vaccination coverage. Second, our data was limited to sentinel hospitals and 3 seasons, which may limit generalizability of our findings. Third, we were only able to enroll ~20% of eligible participants and we were unable to compare characteristics of enrolled versus unenrolled eligible patients. While we cannot exclude the possibility that unenrolled, eligible patients may be different with regard to vaccination status, it is unlikely that enrollment for these individuals differed by etiology; therefore, we believe lower recruitment should not bias our findings. Finally, given the small number of rotavirus cases among children eligible for vaccine, we were unable to produce stratified RV1 vaccine effectiveness estimates by severity or genotype.

Conclusion

With data from 3 seasons following the implementation of an exclusive-RV1 vaccination program, we observed significant declines in the prevalence of rotavirus-associated pediatric gastroenteritis, and estimate that RV1 was >90% effective in preventing emergency visits and hospitalizations among children less than 3 years of age. RV1 vaccine effectiveness did not differ from estimates from comparable jurisdictions with concurrent RV1 and RV5 use. While we

observed an increase in heterotypic and partly-heterotypic rotavirus strains, continued strain surveillance is necessary to monitor longitudinal trends in rotavirus strain circulation in the post-vaccine era.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by a research grant from GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals SA (GSK). We would like to thank Milagros Gonzales for her help in management of the project and data, Thomas Lemaître, Suzanne DeRome, and Léna Coïc for their help in recruiting patients on various sites, as well as the McGill University Health Centre Vaccine Study Centre personnel.

Chapter 4: Two birds with one stone: estimating population vaccination coverage from a test-negative vaccine effectiveness case-control study

4.1 Preface

In this manuscript (Manuscript 2), I evaluate rotavirus vaccine coverage among the population eligible for the RV1 vaccine program with active surveillance data used to estimate RV1 vaccine effectiveness in Manuscript 1. Since this method of deriving coverage innovates upon existing methods, in addition to providing coverage results, I describe the underlying assumptions behind the use of this design, examine the effect of diagnostic accuracy on our coverage estimates via simulations, and compare coverage estimates using the design with the current, "gold standard" approach to estimating vaccine coverage in the Province of Quebec, the Institut National de Santé Publique du Québec (INSPQ) provincial vaccine survey.⁴³

Although the same active surveillance study is used in this design as was used in Manuscript 1, there are slight differences in the dataset used. The recruitment period for active surveillance in Manuscript 2 was longer than the recruitment period in Manuscript 1, due to the availability of the active surveillance dataset at the time of the manuscript analyses. We also implemented a slight change in the definition of "program-eligible" participants in this manuscript as compared with Manuscript 1, so that coverage was evaluated among children eligible for vaccination at *routine* ages of administration (*i.e.* 2 and 4 months), without the first dose requiring a "catch up" administration. Finally, all active surveillance specimens were tested via real-time polymerase chain reactions (RT-PCR) in Manuscript 2; in Manuscript 1, RT-PCR testing was only available as confirmatory testing for rotavirus enzyme immunoassay-positive patients only.

Manuscript 2 is a pre-copyedited, author-produced version of an article accepted for publication in *Clinical Infectious Diseases* following peer review. The version of record¹²⁴ is available online at <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciw397</u>. After peer-review, the vaccine section editor, Dr. Stanley A. Plotkin, selected the manuscript to be featured in the "Invited Article" vaccine special section of the journal because he thought the article's message was important and wanted to highlight it as a featured article in the journal.

4.2 Manuscript

Two birds with one stone: estimating population vaccination coverage from a testnegative vaccine effectiveness case-control study

Margaret K. Doll¹, MPH, Kathryn T. Morrison¹, MSc, David L. Buckeridge¹, MD, PhD, Caroline Quach^{1,2}, MD, MSc

Affiliations:

¹McGill University, Montreal, QC; ²The Montreal Children's Hospital, Montreal, QC

Running title: Estimating rotavirus vaccine coverage

Article summary: Vaccine program evaluation includes assessment of vaccine uptake and effectiveness. Often examined separately, we propose a design to estimate rotavirus vaccination coverage using control subjects from a rotavirus vaccine effectiveness test-negative case-control study, and examine rotavirus vaccination coverage in Quebec.

Key words: test-negative case-control; vaccine coverage; rotavirus

Abstract

Vaccination program evaluation includes assessment of vaccine uptake and effectiveness. Often examined separately, we propose a design to estimate rotavirus vaccination coverage using controls from a rotavirus vaccine effectiveness test-negative case-control study, and examine coverage following implementation of the Quebec rotavirus vaccination program. We present our assumptions for using these data as a proxy for coverage in the general population, explore effects of diagnostic accuracy on coverage estimates via simulations, and validate estimates with an external source. We found 79.0% (95% CI: 74.3%, 83.0%) \geq 2-dose rotavirus coverage among participants eligible for publicly-funded vaccination. No differences were detected between study and external coverage estimates. Simulations revealed minimal bias in estimates with high diagnostic sensitivity and specificity. We conclude that controls from a vaccine effectiveness case-control study may be a valuable resource of coverage information when reasonable assumptions can be made for estimate generalizability; high rotavirus coverage demonstrates success of the Quebec program.

Introduction

With the licensure and implementation of a new vaccine program, it is important to assess vaccine uptake and direct vaccine effectiveness as part of routine program evaluation. Often, separate studies are designed to estimate vaccine uptake and effectiveness, each drawing upon different resources and funding. Although both measures must be estimated, it is expensive to conduct vaccine effectiveness studies and assess coverage, especially in the absence of a vaccination registry.^{46,146} These measures may also need to be re-estimated frequently; for example, where a seasonal influenza vaccine is introduced annually, coverage and vaccine effectiveness are estimated yearly for program evaluation.¹⁴⁷

Case-control studies are commonly used to estimate vaccine effectiveness in post-licensure evaluations.⁵⁰ In a case-control study, vaccine effectiveness is estimated as $(1 - odds \ ratio) * 100\%$, where the odds ratio compares the exposure odds of vaccination between cases and controls, and ideally approximates the relative risk/rate of disease comparing vaccinated and unvaccinated subjects in a cohort study, in order to accurately estimate vaccine effectiveness.¹³ As with any case-control design, vaccine effectiveness controls should be sampled from the source population in which cases arise.¹⁴⁸

When proper sampling is achieved, controls from a vaccine effectiveness case-control study are a valuable source of vaccination coverage data, where coverage among the case source population is of interest to public health professionals, and reasonable assumptions can be made to generalize results to a broader population. In this manuscript, we provide a real-world example where we estimate rotavirus vaccination coverage among controls in a test-negative vaccine effectiveness case-control study to examine the success of the Quebec rotavirus vaccination program. We also present our underlying assumptions for using these data as a proxy for vaccination coverage in the general population, explore the effects of diagnostic sensitivity and specificity on coverage estimates, and compare estimates to an external source for validation.

Methods

Study setting

We assessed rotavirus coverage for two cities in Quebec, Canada. Although pentavalent (RotaTeq[®], Merck & Co Inc.) and monovalent (Rotarix[®], GlaxoSmithKline) rotavirus vaccines were licensed in Canada in August 2006¹⁴⁹ and October 2007¹⁵⁰ respectively, Quebec adopted

public-funding for rotavirus vaccination only in November 2011. At this time, monovalent vaccine was selected for reimbursement and recommended for administration as a 2-dose series at ages 2 and 4 months, with series initiation <15 weeks of age. Pentavalent vaccine is not reimbursed under the publicly-funded program.

Patient eligibility and recruitment

Beginning in February 2012, we conducted prospective, active surveillance for rotavirus gastroenteritis in three children's hospitals: The Montreal Children's Hospital and Centre Hospitalier Universitaire (CHU) Sainte-Justine, located in Montreal, and CHU de Sherbrooke, located in Sherbrooke, QC. Active surveillance continued until December 31, 2014 at Montreal Children's and CHU de Sherbrooke, and June 30, 2014 at CHU Sainte-Justine. Research Ethics Boards at each hospital approved study protocols.

Children were eligible for participation as previously defined.^{124,151} Briefly, children hospitalized or seeking emergency care for acute gastroenteritis, between 8 weeks and less than 3 years of age at symptom onset, with parent/guardian consent at hospital registration to allow contact for research, were recruited. Patients were excluded if rotavirus vaccination was contraindicated in accordance with the Quebec Immunization Protocol.¹⁵² Parent/guardian written consent was obtained for all participants.

Data collection

Participant information was collected via medical records and parent/guardian interviews. Vaccination histories (type/administration date) were obtained during interview in reference to the participant's immunization booklet; if unavailable, permission was requested to contact medical providers for immunization information. Stool samples were obtained from specimens collected at home or during routine care and tested for rotavirus via real-time reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reactions (RT-PCR).¹²⁷

Test-negative design

Active surveillance was used to ascertain eligible cases/controls for enrollment in a testnegative case-control study, designed to estimate vaccine effectiveness. Used mainly in influenza and recently in rotavirus vaccine effectiveness studies,^{67,68} the test-negative design defines eligible cases as participants that test-positive, and controls as participants that test-negative, for the disease of interest.

Coverage estimates

We estimated rotavirus vaccination coverage among rotavirus RT-PCR-negative participants (*i.e.* test-negative controls) only. Rotavirus-positive participants were excluded from coverage analyses because rotavirus vaccination is associated with reduced risk of rotavirus hospitalization or emergency care.^{61,62,84} Thus, inclusion of rotavirus-positive participants would oversample participants less likely to be vaccinated than the source population, and underestimate vaccination coverage. Among rotavirus-negative participants, rotavirus doses administered to children <6 weeks of age or given <28 days following the previous rotavirus dose were considered invalid; only valid immunizations were used to estimate coverage, ascertained as of symptom onset date.

Rotavirus ≥ 1 - and ≥ 2 -dose coverage were estimated for participants age-eligible and participants age- and program-eligible to receive 2 doses following the Quebec rotavirus vaccination program implementation. For these analyses, age-eligible was defined as participants ≥ 16 weeks of age at symptom onset; program-eligible was defined as participants <8 weeks of age at program implementation (November 1, 2011). Coverage estimates among age- and programeligible participants were used to inform uptake among children indicated for immunization under the new program. The Wilson procedure was used to estimate binomial 95% confidence intervals (CI) for coverage point estimates, since *a priori* coverage for all estimates were unknown.¹⁵³

Rotavirus ≥ 2 -dose coverage was examined over time for age-eligible participants, and for age- and program-eligible participants. Time trends were examined as prevalence ratios and 95% CIs representing the average linear change in coverage per consecutive study month, estimated via logistic regression with a log-link function. Among age- and program-eligible participants, ≥ 2 -dose coverage was also stratified by (i) rotavirus season: June 2012 – May 2013 or June 2013 – May 2014, (ii) geographic hospital location: Sherbrooke or Montreal (referent); (iii) parental education: high school, college (referent), or graduate school; (iv) gender: female or male (referent); (v) whether the participant had a primary care physician: none or yes (referent); and (vi) race/ethnicity: Asian, Black, Hispanic, Middle-Eastern, Multiracial, or White (referent). Parental education was based upon the highest reported education level attained by a parent/guardian, and defined as identification of a pediatrician, family doctor, or clinic as the participant's usual care setting, and none, if an emergency room or no setting were identified for usual care. Parental

reports of participant race/ethnicity were used to determine race/ethnicity categories; if more than one category was selected, the participant was classified as Multiracial. Prevalence differences (PD) and 95% CI were estimated to compare coverage within categorical variables; for all variables, the level with the highest frequency was used as the referent.

All analyses were performed using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC) or R version 3.2.1.¹⁵⁴

Underlying assumptions

In order to generalize coverage estimates to the Quebec population, it is important to clearly identify our underlying assumptions with regard to our study population and design.

First, in selecting participants with acute gastroenteritis that tested-negative for rotavirus, we assumed receipt of rotavirus vaccine had no effect on the risk of non-rotavirus acute gastroenteritis. This assumption is necessary, as an association between vaccine uptake and study inclusion would introduce a selection bias, where persons more/less likely to receive rotavirus vaccination would be overrepresented in our sample. The assumption is also likely satisfied since there is no basis for the vaccine to provide immunity for non-rotavirus etiologies, and to date, no association has been detected between rotavirus vaccination and absolute risk of norovirus,^{155,156} the leading cause of medically-attended pediatric gastroenteritis in the post-rotavirus vaccine era.

Second, we assumed participant characteristics were representative of the general population for variables associated with rotavirus vaccine uptake, or we adjusted for these factors in our analyses. We assessed coverage by time, geographic hospital location, gender, parental education, whether or not the participant had a primary care physician, and race/ethnicity, since we determined these as *a priori* factors potentially associated with both study inclusion and rotavirus vaccine uptake.

Third, we assumed only a low proportion of rotavirus false-negatives were included in the study population based upon high sensitivity of the RT-PCR assay we used to determine rotavirus status.¹⁵⁹ In instances of lower sensitivity, persons with true disease that tested falsely-negative would be included in our study and cause us to underestimate coverage, since these individuals are less likely to be vaccinated. On the other hand, lower diagnostic specificity, where false-negatives are excluded, may also cause us to underestimate coverage when sensitivity is imperfect. Given this interplay (**Figure 4-1**), we explored the effects of imperfect sensitivity and specificity on

coverage estimates via simulations (methods/inputs described in **Appendix 4-1**). We assumed the RT-PCR assay used had a sensitivity and specificity of $\geq 90\%$.¹⁵⁹

Finally, as with all coverage assessments, we assumed rotavirus vaccination histories among participants were measured and recorded with high accuracy and completeness.

External validation of coverage estimates

We estimated rotavirus \geq 2-dose coverage among participants born from October 1 – December 31, 2011, and participants born from July 1 –September 30, 2012, who were also ageeligible to receive \geq 2 doses of rotavirus vaccine. These estimates were compared with rotavirus coverage estimates obtained from the 2015 Quebec provincial immunization coverage survey, which sampled children from these birth cohorts.⁴³ Because the Quebec survey does not provide a measure of precision for coverage point estimates, we estimated binomial 95% CIs via the Wilson procedure.^{153,160,161} PD and 95% CIs were estimated to assess differences between our estimates and the Quebec survey (referent).

Since the survey is designed to represent the Quebec population, we also examined generalizability of our sample by comparing gender and maternal education characteristics between study and Quebec survey participants using the Pearson's chi-square test statistic (alpha=0.05). Other characteristics were not examined since they were not reported in the Quebec survey.

Results

Study population

Among the 749 active surveillance participants successfully interviewed with stool tested via RT-PCR, 595 (79.4%) were rotavirus-negative and eligible for coverage analyses. Among these, 566 (95.1%) were age-eligible and 336 (56.5%) were age- and program-eligible to receive 2 doses of rotavirus vaccine under the publicly-funded program. Characteristics of participants are detailed in **Table 4-1**.

Rotavirus vaccination coverage

Overall, rotavirus \geq 1-dose coverage was 57.7% (95% CI: 53.5%, 61.7%), and \geq 2-dose coverage was 52.0% (95% CI: 47.8%, 56.1%) among age-eligible participants. In general, coverage increased over time, with an average relative increase of 2.2% (95% CI: 1.1%, 3.3%) in \geq 2-dose coverage per consecutive study month.

When analyses were limited to age- and program-eligible participants, \geq 1-dose coverage was 86.8% (95% CI: 82.7%, 90.0%), and \geq 2-dose coverage was 79.0% (95% CI: 74.3%, 83.0%). Among these participants, \geq 2-dose coverage did not change over time (average relative change/month: -0.2%, 95% CI: -1.4%, 1.0%). By season, \geq 2-dose coverage was 80.2% (95% CI: 72.2%, 86.3%) and 79.9% (95% CI: 73.2%, 85.2%) from June 2012 – May 2013 and June 2013 – May 2014, respectively.

Rotavirus \geq 2-dose coverage among age- and program-eligible participants is further examined in **Figure 4-2** after stratification by geography, gender, parental education, primary care physician, or race/ethnicity. On average, no differences were found between participants by geographic location (PD: 3.4%, 95% CI: -6.7%, 13.4%) or between participants with/without a primary care physician (PD: -5.3%, 95% CI: -15.4%, 4.7%), though we lacked power to detect small coverage differences. Females had marginally higher coverage compared with males (PD: 9.0%, 95% CI: 0.2%, 17.7%). By parental education, coverage was 15.3% (95% CI: 5.8%, 24.9%) higher among participants whose parents had a high school education compared with college, but no difference was found compared with graduate school (PD: 6.8%, 95% CI: -3.8%, 17.4%). On average, Black and Hispanic participants had 14.1% (95% CI: 2.3%, 26.0%) and 21.1% (11.1%, 31.1%) higher coverage, respectively, than White participants; no differences were detected between Asian, Middle Eastern, or Multiracial participants compared to White participants (PD -*Asian*: -6.0%, 95% CI: -29.5%, 17.5%; *Middle Eastern*: 14.1, 95% CI: -1.6%, 29.8%; *Multiracial*: 5.3%, 95% CI: -9.3%, 19.8%).

Comparison to external estimates

Rotavirus \geq 2-dose coverage results were compared with Quebec survey estimates in **Figure 4-3**. No differences were detected between study population and survey estimates, with coverage differences of -6.5% (95% CI: -19.1%, 6.0%) and -2.6% (95% CI: -14.2%, 9.0%) for participants born from October 1 – December 31, 2011 and July 1 - September 30, 2012, respectively.

Further, no differences were detected in the distribution of gender or maternal education characteristics between Quebec survey and age-eligible (gender, p=0.96; maternal education, p=0.25) or age- and program-eligible (gender, p=0.27; maternal education, p=0.23) study participants.

Role of diagnostic accuracy

Based upon RT-PCR sensitivity and specificity of 90%, we estimated the mean bias in our coverage estimates was -2.7% (95% CI: -3.4%, -2.0%); for a sensitivity and specificity of 95%, mean bias in coverage was estimated as -1.3% (95% CI: -1.7%, -1.0%). We further explored mean bias in coverage for various sensitivity and specificity scenarios in **Table 4-2**. Bias was generally low in scenarios of high sensitivity and specificity. No bias was observed among coverage estimates in situations where sensitivity was 100%. Where sensitivity was <100%, imperfect sensitivity or specificity consistently led to an underestimation of coverage.

	Rotavirus RT-PCR Negative Participants				
Variable	Age-Eligible	Age- & Program-Eligible N=336			
	N=566				
	% (95% CI)	% (95% CI)			
Age (months): Mean (95% CI)	16.0 (15.4, 16.7)	12.0 (11.4, 12.7)			
Geographic Location	n=566	n=336			
Montreal	73.0 (69.2, 76.5)	77.4 (72.6, 81.5)			
Gender	n=560	n=330			
Male	52.5 (48.4, 56.6)	55.8 (50.4, 61.0)			
Primary care physician	n=560	n=332			
Yes	69.6 (65.7, 73.3)	71.4 (66.3, 76.0)			
Parental education	n=564	n=334			
High school	19.9 (15.8, 24.2)	18.9 (13.5, 24.3)			
College/university	57.5 (53.4, 61.8)	58.1 (52.7, 63.6)			
Graduate school	22.7 (18.6, 27.1)	23.1 (17.7, 28.5)			
Race/Ethnicity	n=564	n=334			
Asian	5.1 (1.4, 9.2)	4.8 (0.0, 10.0)			
Black	10.5 (6.7, 14.5)	11.1 (6.3, 16.3)			
Hispanic	8.3 (4.6, 12.4)	7.2 (2.4, 12.4)			
Middle Eastern	5.1 (1.4, 9.2)	5.4 (0.6, 10.6)			
Multiracial	9.6 (5.9, 13.6)	10.5 (5.7, 15.7)			
White	61.4 (57.6, 65.4)	61.1 (56.3, 66.3)			

Table 4-1. Characteristics of age-eligible and age- & program-eligible coverage study participants. Data represent % (95% CI) unless otherwise specified; sample sizes are provided for each category in order to account for missing data.

Test characteristic	Specificity							
Sensitivity	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	100%		
50%	-18.9 (-23.1, -14.4)	-16.4 (-20.3, -12.5)	-14.6 (-18.0, -11.0)	-13.1 (-16.1, -9.9)	-11.8 (-14.7, -9.0)	-10.8 (-13.5, -8.2)		
60%	-15.9 (-19.6, -12.1)	-13.8 (-17.0, -10.4)	-12.1 (-15.0, -9.2)	-10.8 (-13.4, -8.1)	-9.8 (-12.1, -7.4)	-8.9 (-11.1, -6.7)		
70%	-12.6 (-15.7, -9.6)	-10.8 (-13.4, -8.2)	-9.5 (-11.8, -7.1)	-8.4 (-10.5, -6.3)	-7.6 (-9.5, -5.7)	-6.9 (-8.6, -5.2)		
80%	-8.9 (-11.1, -6.7)	-7.6 (-9.5, -5.7)	-6.6 (-8.3, -4.9)	-5.9 (-7.3, -4.4)	-5.3 (-6.5, -4.0)	-4.8 (-6.0, -3.6)		
90%	-4.8 (-6.0, -3.6)	-4.0 (-5.0, -3.0)	-3.5 (-4.4, -2.6)	-3.0 (-3.8, -2.3)	-2.7 (-3.4, -2.0)	-2.5 (-3.1, -1.8)		
100%	0.0 (0.0, 0.0)	0.0 (0.0, 0.0)	0.0 (0.0, 0.0)	0.0 (0.0, 0.0)	0.0 (0.0, 0.0)	0.0 (0.0, 0.0)		

Table 4-2: Mean bias (95% confidence intervals) in vaccination coverage estimates estimated via simulations for varying levels of diagnostic sensitivity and specificity.

Figure 4-1. Illustrated representation of the role of imperfect diagnostic characteristics (sensitivity and specificity) on vaccination coverage estimates derived from controls in a test-negative case-control vaccine effectiveness study.



Figure 4-2. Rotavirus \geq 2-dose coverage by subgroup among participants eligible for 2 doses of rotavirus vaccination under the Quebec rotavirus vaccination program. Coverage estimates and 95% CI were estimated stratified by hospital geographic location, gender, parental education, whether the participant had a primary care physician, or race/ethnicity.



Figure 4-3. Comparison of rotavirus \geq 2-dose coverage estimates from study participants and the 2015 Quebec provincial immunization survey. Coverage and 95% CI are compared separately for each birth cohort of participants born from either: (i) October 1st – December 31, 2011, or (ii) July 1st – September 30, 2012.



Birth Cohort

Discussion

In this manuscript, we demonstrate how vaccination data collected from controls in a vaccine effectiveness case-control study can be used to estimate population vaccination coverage. Specifically, we assessed rotavirus vaccination coverage among eligible controls in a test-negative case-control vaccine effectiveness study as a proxy for coverage among Quebec children. When we compared our estimates to results from an external study designed to estimate immunization coverage, we found no significant differences between coverage estimates. Further, we demonstrate that there was minimal bias in coverage estimates when test-negative controls were identified via a diagnostic assay with high sensitivity and specificity. These results suggest test-negative vaccine effectiveness study controls are a useful source of immunization coverage data, when reasonable assumptions can be made to generalize results to a greater population, and a highly accurate test is used to differentiate cases from controls.

Among participants for whom vaccination was recommended under the Quebec rotavirus vaccination program, we found $87\% \ge 1$ -dose coverage and nearly $80\% \ge 2$ -dose coverage, with no average change in monthly coverage detected over time. These data demonstrate the rapid, relative success of the Quebec program, with high initial vaccine uptake and sustained coverage during the first 3 years of program implementation. In comparison, 3 years after United States (U.S.) program implementation, average rotavirus ≥ 1 -dose coverage was 72% among sentinel locations, ranging from 48% to 86%.¹¹⁸

Although high rotavirus coverage was found among age- and program-eligible children, differences in coverage were detected among subgroups. Coverage among males was 9% lower than females, while participants with a college-educated parent had 15% lower coverage than those with a high school-educated parent. White participants had 14% to 21% lower coverage in comparison with Black and Hispanic participants. These findings are similar to characteristics of unvaccinated children found in U.S. studies, with unvaccinated children more likely to be White, male, or have a college-educated mother/parent.¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁵

Our results should be interpreted in the context of several limitations. First, non-rotavirus gastroenteritis participants may have symptoms caused by influenza, and if infected with a vaccine-preventable strain, these participants are less likely to receive influenza vaccination, and potentially other vaccines. Thus, inclusion of these participants may underestimate rotavirus vaccine coverage (as well as vaccine effectiveness). While we cannot rule out inclusion, it is

unlikely that influenza was predominantly responsible for non-rotavirus gastroenteritis in our sample for several reasons: approximately 40% of participants tested positive for alternate, non-vaccine-preventable gastroenteritis etiologies, norovirus or sapovirus,¹⁵¹ we did not test for other pathogens characterized as significant contributors of pediatric acute gastroenteritis,¹⁶⁶⁻¹⁶⁸ and among children with influenza, gastroenteritis is not a predominant clinical presentation with <33% of cases experiencing diarrhea or vomiting symptoms¹⁶⁹⁻¹⁷³ and <5% presenting with gastroenteritis as the cause of admission.^{169,172}

Second, persons seeking healthcare may differ from the general population in ways related to vaccine uptake. Although differential uptake of vaccine among healthcare seekers versus non-seekers could bias results, we believe it is less likely to occur in a setting where care is sought for emergency services, among an age group more commonly requiring emergency visits/hospitalizations for acute gastroenteritis, and where public insurance coverage for primary and emergency care is universally available. However, our study's strengths are that we compared coverage estimates and sample characteristics with the Quebec survey, which did not rely on participant recruitment from a healthcare facility, and we stratified estimates by presence/absence of a primary care physician.

Third, comparison of our estimates to Quebec survey estimates required us to limit our data to mutually examined cohorts; thus, we lacked sufficient power to detect small differences in coverage between study and survey estimates. Nonetheless, our point estimates were close to those in the survey, and we examined validity of our estimates via simulations.

Fourth, we only examined coverage at 3 university hospitals located in 2 Quebec cities. If coverage differed by hospital catchment and/or city, our estimates may have limited generalizability to other geographic areas; however, our results were similar to the Quebec survey, and we did not find coverage differences stratified by geographic location.

Fifth, rotavirus vaccination coverage was measured only among participants for whom the vaccine was not contraindicated. Although we suspect rates of contraindication are relatively rare at the population-level (*i.e.* history of intussusception prior to vaccination, history of hospitalization between 2 months and >104 days of age, or severe immunosuppression), our estimates are not generalizable to these populations.

Finally, although coverage estimates derived from test-negative controls may be a useful addition to vaccine program evaluation, they should not be viewed as a replacement of traditional

coverage surveys, which can incorporate rigorous sampling methods to reliably and precisely estimate coverage among both general and sub-populations of interest.

Conclusion

Controls from a vaccine effectiveness case-control study design may be a valuable resource for estimating vaccination coverage. Using eligible controls from a rotavirus test-negative study, we found high \geq 2-dose rotavirus coverage of nearly 80% among children eligible for vaccination in Quebec, 3 years after implementation of a provincial rotavirus vaccination program. While high coverage demonstrates the relative success of the program, coverage levels varied by subgroup, potentially leaving pockets of rotavirus susceptible children in the community.

Notes

Funding

Active rotavirus surveillance was supported by a grant from GlaxoSmithKline. No funding was received for other aspects of this study.

Conflict of Interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest to disclose. Caroline Quach has received funding from GlaxoSmithKline, Pfizer, Sage and AbbVie (all for research grant or support). The remaining authors have no financial relationships relevant to this article to disclose.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Milagros Gonzales for her help in management of the project and data, Thomas Lemaître, Suzanne DeRome, and Léna Coïc for their help in recruiting patients at various sites, as well as the MUHC Vaccine Study Centre personnel. We also thank Dr. Jesse Papenburg and Constantina Boikos for their helpful feedback on the manuscript.

Appendix 4-1. Simulations to explore the role of diagnostic accuracy on coverage estimates

Methods

We adapted simulation methods previously described by Jackson and Rothman⁶⁷ to explore the role of diagnostic sensitivity and specificity on the accuracy of vaccination coverage estimates derived from controls of a test-negative study design. We used the following six parameters for our simulations:

- True coverage: rotavirus vaccination coverage among children <3 years in the population
- **IP**_{rotavirus}: incidence proportion (risk) of severe gastroenteritis, defined as gastroenteritis requiring hospitalization or an emergency department visit, caused by rotavirus among unvaccinated children <3 years
- **IP**_{other}: incidence proportion (risk) of severe gastroenteritis due to non-rotavirus etiologies among children <3 years
- VE: direct vaccine effectiveness of rotavirus vaccine to prevent severe gastroenteritis caused by rotavirus
- **Sensitivity**: sensitivity of diagnostic test (variable)
- **Specificity**: specificity of diagnostic test (variable)

We ran 10,000 simulations with a generated population of 20,000 children <3 years of age for each diagnostic test scenario. The design of simulations is provided for reference in **Supplemental Figure 4-1**. Briefly, the population was created by initial stratification into vaccinated and unvaccinated population subgroups (based upon true coverage), and then divided further into groups of either: (i) severe gastroenteritis due to non-rotavirus etiologies, (based upon IP_{other}), (ii) severe rotavirus gastroenteritis (based upon IP_{rotavirus}, in consideration of vaccination status and VE), or (iii) no severe gastroenteritis (based upon 1 - IP_{other} - IP_{rotavirus}, in consideration of vaccination status and VE). After stratification, vaccinated and unvaccinated children with severe rotavirus gastroenteritis were combined to encompass "true rotavirus positives", and vaccinated and unvaccinated children with non-rotavirus severe gastroenteritis were combined to encompass "true rotavirus negatives". Sensitivity and specificity scenarios were applied to each of these groups to determine the number of children that would test rotavirus-negative, comprised of false rotavirus negatives and true rotavirus negatives, and thus, be classified as controls in a testnegative study. Coverage was estimated among all children that tested rotavirus-negative (*i.e.* testnegative controls) for each simulated population; bias in coverage for each simulation was estimated as [estimated coverage/true coverage - 1] * 100%. Mean bias for each diagnostic scenario was estimated as the average bias in coverage across the 10,000 simulations; lower and upper 95% CI were estimated as bias in the 2.5% and 97.5% probability quantiles, respectively, for each diagnostic scenario.

We generated outcome datasets using known probabilities of vaccination status and the risk of severe gastroenteritis (rotavirus or otherwise). Each simulated population had a fixed sample size of n=20,000. The number of vaccinated children was binomially distributed, with the probability equal to the expected true coverage of 50%. Non-vaccinated children were equal to 20,000 – number vaccinated. The subset of the population that experienced severe non-rotavirus gastroenteritis was binomially distributed, with n=20,000, and the probability equal to IP_{other} of 2.5%. The subset of the unvaccinated population that experienced severe rotavirus gastroenteritis was binomially distributed, with n equal to the number of unvaccinated children, and probability equal to IProtavirus of 1.5%. Lastly, the subset of the vaccinated population that experienced severe rotavirus gastroenteritis was also binomially distributed, but with n equal to the number of vaccinated children and probability equal to IProtavirus, accounting for an expected VE of 85%. Estimates for IProtavirus and IPother were chosen in consideration of the risk of emergency department visits caused by rotavirus (IProtavirus), and the risk of emergency department visits caused by allcause diarrhea excluding rotavirus (IP_{other}), among children <5 years of age from Quebec during the pre-vaccine era.⁷ For these estimates, we used risks for emergency department visits only, since we assumed the majority of hospitalized children would pass through an emergency department prior to hospitalization. The input for VE was selected based upon monovalent rotavirus VE estimates to prevent severe gastroenteritis from recent studies ranging from 70 to 98%.^{60-62,64,84-87}

In order to encompass a large range of diagnostic testing scenarios, we examined diagnostic sensitivities of 50% to 100% in 10% increments, with simultaneous diagnostic specificities of 50% to 100% in 10% increments.

Similar to methods detailed by Jackson and Rothman,⁶⁷ we excluded other potential sources of bias in order to focus on the role of diagnostic accuracy, and assumed (i) vaccination coverage was binary (*i.e.* either vaccinated or non-vaccinated), and (ii) disease groups of severe

rotavirus gastroenteritis and severe gastroenteritis due to non-rotavirus etiologies were mutually exclusive at a given point in time.



Supplemental Figure 4-4. Schematic representation of simulated populations to assess mean bias in coverage.
Chapter 5: Estimation of the overall effect of a rotavirus vaccine program attributable to a per-unit change in rotavirus vaccine coverage in the population

5.1 Preface

In this manuscript (Manuscript 3), I examine the overall effect of the RV1 vaccination program in Quebec on weekly rates of all-cause AGE hospitalizations among a population-based sample of children 8 months to less than 3 years of age residing in Montreal, using a time series analysis. I estimate the overall effect of the program as a whole, using standard methods to compare rates of all-cause AGE in the post-vaccine period relative to the pre-vaccine period. I also characterize the overall effect as the effect attributable to a per-unit change in vaccine coverage, using population vaccine coverage as the exposure variable. The latter measure is not traditionally used in vaccine program evaluation; therefore, I also discuss reasons why it may be a useful addition to standard methods to measure the overall program effect.

As explained in the manuscript, this analysis is performed using a population-based cohort of approximately 25% of the Montreal census area population, created via linkages in healthcare administrative databases for research on health indicators. Population vaccine coverage for the sample was estimated as a time series via the same study design and dataset from Manuscript 2, combined with age-standardization methods, in order to ensure that coverage was representative of the age-distribution of children in the population-based cohort.

Manuscript 3 is currently under review at the peer-reviewed journal, American Journal of Epidemiology.

5.2 Manuscript

Estimation of the overall effect of a rotavirus vaccine program attributable to a perunit change in rotavirus vaccine coverage in the population

Margaret K. Doll¹, Caroline Quach^{1,2,3}, David L. Buckeridge¹

Affiliations:

¹Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, McGill University, Montreal, QC; ²Department of Microbiology, Infectious Diseases and Immunology, University of Montreal, Montreal, QC;

³Infection Control and Prevention Unit, Division of Pediatric Infectious Diseases and Medical Microbiology, CHU Sainte-Justine, University of Montreal, Montreal, QC

Conflicts of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to disclose. Caroline Quach has received funding from GlaxoSmithKline, Pfizer, Sage and AbbVie (all for research grant or support). The remaining authors have no financial relationships relevant to this article to disclose.

Sources of funding: The external vaccine effectiveness study was supported by a grant from GlaxoSmithKline. No funding was received for other aspects of this study.

Data sharing: Aggregate time series data and R code will be made available as a supplemental appendix on the journal website.

Key words: rotavirus; vaccine program; overall effect; program evaluation

Abstract

Background: Estimation of the overall effect of a vaccine program is essential, but it is typically estimated as an effect attributable to an entire program. We estimate the overall effect of a rotavirus vaccine campaign and the effect for each 10% increase in rotavirus vaccine coverage on pediatric all-cause acute gastroenteritis (AGE) hospitalizations.

Methods: We conducted a time series analysis of weekly rates of all-cause AGE hospitalizations among children 8 to 35 months of age between June 1, 1998 and December 28, 2014 in Montreal, Quebec. We implemented negative binomial regressions to estimate the overall effect of the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program as: (i) a dichotomous variable, representing pre- and post-program periods, and (ii) a continuous variable, representing rotavirus vaccine coverage, and adjusted our estimates for seasonality, long-term trends, and infection dynamics.

Results: Using a dichotomous exposure, we estimate the vaccine program was associated with a 29.3% (95% CI: 16.5%, 40.1%) relative decline in adjusted weekly rates of all-cause AGE hospitalizations in the post-vaccine period. Using a continuous exposure, we found that a 10% increase in rotavirus \geq 1-dose coverage was associated with a 6.8% (95% CI: 3.9%, 9.5%) relative decline in adjusted weekly rates, with an increase in coverage to 87.0% associated with a 45.6% (95% CI: 29.2%, 58.2%) relative decline.

Conclusions: Estimation of the overall effect attributable to a per-unit change in vaccine coverage may be a useful addition to standard measurement of the overall program effect, allowing estimates to be generalized across settings with discrepant vaccine coverage.

Introduction

No vaccine program is created equal. With the adoption of a vaccine, policy-makers must make numerous decisions regarding its allocation, which can influence the overall effect, or impact, of a vaccine program on the burden of disease. For example, program decisions regarding the choice of vaccine(s), the population(s) and age group(s) targeted, and the recommended schedule and dosage can all influence the effect of a vaccine program on a disease outcome from a population perspective.³⁵

Prior to program implementation, mathematical models are useful for evaluating the potential effects of different program scenarios in a jurisdiction,^{13,69,174} but estimates from these models are often uncertain.^{69,175,176} Evaluation of the overall effect, using real-world, post-implementation data, is therefore warranted,^{13,69,175} and comparison of these data from similar jurisdictions with different vaccine programs may provide insights into the consequences of program decisions on population health outcomes.

Yet, estimates of the overall program effect from jurisdictions with differing levels of vaccine coverage are not easily compared. The comparison is not straightforward because the overall program effect represents the average of effects in vaccinated and unvaccinated individuals, *weighted* by their respective proportion in the population (*i.e.* as determined by vaccine coverage).^{11,13,14,50} One strategy for making measures of overall program effect comparable is to characterize the relative reduction in a disease outcome **attributable to a per-unit change in vaccine coverage**. Doing so separates the effectiveness of the vaccine program from vaccine coverage, and should make jurisdictional estimates of the overall effect more easily comparable.

In this manuscript, we provide a real-world example of estimating the effect of a vaccine program as a function of coverage, where we estimate the overall effect of a rotavirus vaccine program on pediatric hospitalizations for all-cause acute gastroenteritis (AGE) via a time series analysis in Quebec, Canada. In our analyses, we demonstrate how the overall effect can be estimated as a rate ratio attributable to a 10% change in rotavirus vaccine coverage. We also characterize the overall effect of the vaccine program as a whole, in accordance with standard practice, and discuss the utility of our non-standard approach.

Methods

To estimate the overall effect of the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program, we conducted a time series analysis of weekly all-cause AGE hospitalizations between June 1, 1998 and December 28, 2014 among children 8 to 35 months of age residing in greater Montreal, Quebec.

Study setting

The Province of Quebec implemented a publicly-funded rotavirus vaccine program in November 2011. Under the program, monovalent (Rotarix®; GlaxoSmithKline) rotavirus vaccine was available at no cost to Quebec residents, with routine vaccination recommended at 2 and 4 months of age, and series initiation and completion by 20 weeks and 8 months of age, respectively ³¹. Prior to the program, pentavalent (RotaTeq[®], Merck & Co Inc.) and monovalent rotavirus vaccines were licensed in Canada in August 2006¹⁴⁹ and October 2007¹⁵⁰, and recommended for use by the National Advisory Committee on Immunization (NACI) in January 2008¹⁷⁷ and July 2010,¹⁷⁸ respectively; however vaccine recipients were required to pay out of pocket for vaccination.

Greater Montreal is the largest metropolitan area in Quebec and the second largest in Canada, with a population of approximately 4 million residents in 2016.¹⁷⁹ In general, all Quebec residents are covered by provincial health insurance, with few exceptions for temporary residents.¹⁸⁰

Study population

We included greater Montreal residents 8 to 35 months of age who were members of the Montreal Population Health Record (PopHR) cohort in our analyses. As described elsewhere,¹⁸¹ the Montreal PopHR cohort was created for research on health indicators, and represents an open, population-based, de-identified sample of approximately 25% of greater Montreal residents with provincial health insurance. Healthcare utilization data are tracked longitudinally for each cohort member from the date of cohort entry until either death, movement outside of Montreal, or cohort end date. Each year, cohort losses from death and emigration are replaced with a random sample of births and immigrants to maintain the population sampling fraction. The initial PopHR cohort was selected in 1998, with annual updates through 2014 at the time of our analyses.

Data sources

The PopHR cohort was created via linkages of provincial health insurance administrative databases maintained by the government organization, *Régie de l'assurance maladie du Québec* (RAMQ). Year and month for each cohort member's dates of birth, cohort entry and exit are provided, and member healthcare utilization data is tracked via an anonymized, unique identifier.

Hospitalization data for each cohort member is fed via the software system that captures administrative, clinical, and demographic information on hospital discharges, *Maintenance et exploitation des données pour l'étude de la clientèle hospitalière* (MED-ECHO),¹⁸² used by all Quebec hospitals. In MED-ECHO, administrative codes are recorded for each hospital stay based on the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) 9th Revision, adapted for Quebec (ICD-9-QC) until 2006, and ICD 10th Revision, adapted for Canada (ICD-10-CA) from 2006 onwards.

Exposure ascertainment

In separate analyses, we characterized the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program (exposure), as either: (i) the presence or absence of the vaccine program, or (ii) the percentage of rotavirus vaccine coverage in the population.

Rotavirus vaccine program

We divided the study period into pre- and post-program periods, with the pre-program period designated as weeks before November 14, 2011, and the post-program period as weeks on or after this date. We designated November 14, 2011 as the effective program start date in consideration of the program's implementation date, and a lag of 2-weeks to account for the biological delay in the immune response to rotavirus vaccine, which is a duration typically used in rotavirus direct vaccine effectiveness studies.^{61,62,120,124}

Vaccine coverage

We estimated weekly ≥ 1 - and ≥ 2 -dose rotavirus vaccine coverage among Montreal residents 8 to 35 months of age using coverage data from control participants enrolled in an external test-negative case-control study of rotavirus vaccine effectiveness in Quebec.¹²⁴ For reasons previously described,¹⁸³ we assumed that rotavirus vaccine coverage among these study participants was a reasonable proxy to estimate population rotavirus vaccine coverage. We used these coverage data since an immunization information system did not exist in Quebec before June 2014,¹¹⁹ and provincial coverage survey estimates were not available as a time series.⁴³

In our main analyses, we used coverage data from eligible controls recruited at hospitals in Montreal and Sherbrooke, Quebec, since coverage did not vary by geographic location.¹⁸³ Only controls 8 months of age or older at the time of participation in the external study were eligible for inclusion in our coverage estimates. This age cut off was chosen because a control's rotavirus vaccine history was assessed as of their participation date, and was not expected to change after 8 months of age.¹⁸⁴ Using these eligibility criteria, we formed a retrospective cohort to assess weekly rotavirus vaccine coverage, with controls entering and exiting the cohort at 8 and 36 months of age, respectively. We assessed ≥ 1 - and ≥ 2 -dose rotavirus coverage each week to form a weekly time series. Due to concerns that the age distribution of cohort members may differ from the PopHR cohort over time, weekly coverage estimates were age-standardized via direct standardization using the weekly distribution of children 8 to less than 12 months, 1 year, and 2 years of age in the PopHR cohort, via the R *epitools* package.¹⁸⁵ Using these methods, the earliest date that we could derive age-standardized coverage estimates was April 11, 2011, or approximately 29 weeks before the implementation of the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program. Prior to that date, we assumed rotavirus vaccine coverage was 0%, but modified this assumption in sensitivity analyses (described below).

Outcome ascertainment

We examined weekly counts of hospitalizations due to all-cause AGE as our outcome of interest. We used all-cause AGE in consideration of potential changes in laboratory testing practices for rotavirus and/or ICD coding directives for AGE over time.¹⁸⁶ To identify relevant hospitalizations, we examined the primary diagnosis ICD-9-QC or ICD-10-CA code recorded for each hospital stay, and counted hospitalizations with a matching primary code for all-cause AGE, as previously defined by Quebec researchers Bernard et al.⁷

Statistical analyses

We used negative binomial generalized linear models with a log-link function to estimate the overall effect of the Quebec vaccine program on weekly counts of all-cause AGE hospitalizations among children 8 to 35 months of age. A negative binomial distribution was selected over Poisson, based upon preliminary analyses that revealed overdispersion in our outcome data. A continuous, linear term indicating the week number of the time series, subsequently referred to as week time, was included in all models. All models also included a weekly offset term to account for the denominator of children 8 to 35 months of age in the PopHR cohort.

In separate models, we characterized our exposure as: (i) a dichotomous variable, representing the presence or absence of the vaccine program, and (ii) a continuous variable, representing vaccine coverage in the population.

For exposure (i), we coded pre-program weeks as 0 and post-program weeks as 1. The exponentiated model coefficient for exposure (i) represented the rate ratio (RR) comparing weekly rates of all-cause AGE hospitalizations in the post- versus pre-vaccine periods. In addition to the RR, we report the percent relative decrease in weekly rates, or vaccine program effectiveness, estimated as (1 - RR)*100, to facilitate the interpretability of our estimates.

For exposure (ii), we input weekly age-standardized percentages of either ≥ 1 - or ≥ 2 -dose rotavirus vaccine coverage (in separate models), with weeks before April 11, 2011 coded as 0. The exponentiated model coefficient for exposure (ii) therefore represented the RR of weekly all-cause AGE hospitalizations corresponding to a 1% increase in vaccine coverage. To promote its interpretability, we also report RR and the percent relative decrease in our weekly outcome associated with a 10% increase in vaccine coverage, and with an increase to the maximum level of vaccine coverage observed during the study period.

We considered several different approaches to adjust for rotavirus seasonality, and implemented a series of models with season characterized as either: (i) time strata (*i.e.* binary, tertiary, quarterly, or monthly categorical variables), (ii) Fourier transformation of week time (using combinations of annual and biennial sine and cosine terms), (iii) cubic B-spline transformation of calendar week time (*i.e.* using a January start date for week number; with the number of annual knots varying between 3 and 10), or (iv) a combination of approaches (i)-(iii).⁷² We also considered adjustment for long-term trends by inclusion of a linear annual term for rotavirus season with June as a starting month, as used previously in Quebec.¹ Additionally, for our dichotomous exposure model, we considered adjustment for a change in trend in the post-program period,^{69,187} via inclusion of a term either accounting for the number of weeks or the number of annual rotavirus seasons since program implementation.

Due to the annual dynamic between the susceptible-infected-recovered populations within a rotavirus season, we also considered adjustment for the "population immune to rotavirus", defined as the cumulative number of participants hospitalized for all-cause AGE per annual rotavirus season.^{71,74} This approach assumes that: (i) hospitalizations for all-cause AGE are a surrogate for rotavirus hospitalizations, and (ii) people that contract rotavirus within each season are immune for the remainder of the season after recovery. While these assumptions represent an oversimplification, they are unexpected to be problematic since: (i) rotavirus was the predominant cause of pediatric acute gastroenteritis in Canada in the pre-vaccine period ¹⁻⁷, and (ii) approximately one-half of our cohort was replaced each rotavirus season by an incoming birth cohort, which presumably represented children susceptible to rotavirus.

Additionally, to address residual autocorrelation, we considered inclusion of one of the following autoregressive terms, lagged by 1-week: (i) model residuals, (ii) our outcome, (iii) the logarithm of our outcome + 1, or (iv) the logarithm of our outcome + 0.5. This approach has been suggested by several authors to reduce strong residual autocorrelation in infectious disease time series induced by the contagious nature of the outcome.^{71,73,188} We chose a lag of 1-week in consideration of the short incubation period of rotavirus.¹⁸⁹ For terms (iii) and (iv), the addition of 1 or 0.5 to outcome counts was implemented to prevent taking the logarithm of zero.

We selected the best-fitting model for each exposure by minimizing the Akaike information criterion (AIC),^{190,191} and compared model fit among the final selected models for each exposure by calculating the difference between their respective AIC. We used the general criteria recommended by Burnham and Anderson¹⁹² and denoted AIC differences of 1-2, 4-7, and >10 as models with similar, moderately better, or conclusively better fit, respectively. We assessed residual autocorrelation via autocorrelation and partial autocorrelation functions,¹⁹³ and examined model fit via plots of the residuals over time and plots of predicted versus observed values.¹⁹³ We also inspected the appropriateness of using the negative binomial distribution by examining the relationship between the theoretical and actual residual variance for fitted values using the method developed by Ver Hoef et al.,¹⁹⁴ as implemented by Imai et al.⁷¹

Sensitivity analyses

We conducted multiple sensitivity analyses to examine the robustness of our findings. First, to investigate the characterization of our binary exposure variable, we excluded the annual 2011-12 rotavirus season to account for a delay in vaccine uptake. In this analysis, we defined the time periods before and after the season as pre- and post-program periods, respectively.

To account for missing population vaccine coverage data in our continuous exposure variable during the pre-program period, we conducted a complete case analysis excluding weeks between: (i) June 21, 2008, or the earliest date that the initial NACI recommendation for rotavirus vaccination could affect vaccine uptake among children 8 months of age, and (ii) April 11, 2011, or the start date of our weekly rotavirus coverage estimates. In another analysis, we imputed weekly coverage estimates for the population between these dates assuming a linear change in coverage during the period, and baseline coverage equal to 0%. In yet another sensitivity analysis, we only used coverage data derived from external study participants recruited at a Montreal hospital.

For each exposure, we also compared 95% confidence intervals (CI) derived via standard procedures with those estimated via a heteroskedasticity and autocorrelation consistent (*i.e.* robust) covariance matrix estimator, implemented via the R *sandwich* package.^{195,196} This procedure is recommended by King and Roberts¹⁹⁷ to evaluate potential model misspecification.

Finally, we also compared estimates derived from our final models using a Quasi-Poisson distribution. All analyses were performed in RStudio version 0.98.1103 (Boston, MA) with R version 3.2.5.¹⁵⁴

Ethics approval

This study was approved by the McGill University Institutional Review Board (IRB). Formation of the PopHR cohort was also approved by the McGill University IRB, while the external vaccine effectiveness study was additionally approved by IRBs at each hospital.

Results

An average of 24,058 children 8 to 35 months of age were under surveillance in the PopHR cohort each week (range: 21,396 to 27,061). The total number of all-cause AGE hospitalizations over the study period was 2,505, with the number of weekly hospitalizations ranging from 0 to 18.

As of the rotavirus vaccine program effective start date, age-adjusted rotavirus \geq 1- and \geq 2dose vaccine coverage among children 8 to 35 months of age was 6.9% (95% CI: 2.6%, 17.0%), and 6.6% (95% CI: 2.5%, 16.8%), respectively. Between the start date of our coverage estimates and the study end date, age-adjusted \geq 1-dose vaccine coverage ranged from 3.9% to 87.0%, while \geq 2-dose vaccine coverage ranged from 3.9% to 72.5%. Time series plots of weekly all-cause AGE hospitalization rates are presented in conjunction with the dichotomous and continuous representations of our exposure in **Figure 5-1**.

Model selection

For both exposures, the final selected models included the following terms to adjust for seasonality, long-term trends, and infection dynamics: a linear term for week time, cubic B-spline transformation of calendar week time with 6 annual knots, annual sine and cosine terms, a biennial sine term, a linear term for annual rotavirus season, and a linear term for the population immune to rotavirus. To account for residual autocorrelation detected in the final models, we selected an autoregressive term of 1-week lagged model residuals, which fit the data better than other autoregressive terms evaluated. After implementation of the autoregressive term, there was little evidence of residual autocorrelation in the fully-adjusted models.

For our continuous exposure, the model with \geq 1-dose rotavirus coverage had similar fit as the model with \geq 2-dose rotavirus coverage (AIC difference=0.2). Models with either \geq 1- or \geq 2dose coverage, however, had better fit than the dichotomous exposure model (AIC differences=4.3 and 4.5, respectively). Plots of the predicted counts and 95% CI from each exposure model versus observed counts of all-cause AGE hospitalizations are presented in **Figure 5-2**. Analyses of the theoretical and actual residual variances for fitted model values indicated that the negative binomial distribution was appropriate for all exposures.

Overall effect of vaccination

On average, weekly rates of all-cause AGE hospitalizations in the pre- and post-program periods were 1.341 (95% CI: 1.238, 1.443) and 0.696 (95% CI: 0.606, 0.786) per 10,000 children, respectively, accounting for a relative decrease of 48.1% (95% CI: 37.6%, 56.8%) in crude weekly rates of all-cause AGE hospitalizations in the post-program period. After adjustment, the Quebec vaccine program was associated with a 29.3% (95% CI: 16.5%, 40.1%) relative decline in weekly rates of all-cause AGE hospitalizations among children 8 to 35 months of age.

Prior to the uptake of any vaccine (*i.e.* 0% coverage), the mean weekly rate of all-cause AGE hospitalizations was 1.369 (95% CI: 1.263, 1.474) per 10,000 children 8 to 35 months of age. We estimated that a 10% increase in \geq 1-dose rotavirus coverage was associated with an 11.9% (95% CI: 8.8%, 14.9%) relative decrease in crude weekly rates of all-cause AGE hospitalizations, or a 6.8% (95% CI: 3.9%, 9.5%) relative decrease in adjusted weekly rates of all-cause AGE hospitalizations. Where the continuous exposure was characterized as a 10% increase in \geq 2-dose coverage, we estimated a crude relative weekly rate reduction of 13.8% (95% CI: 10.3%, 17.3%), or a relative decline in adjusted rates of 7.9% (95% CI: 4.6%, 11.2%). When we generalized our

adjusted estimates to the maximum coverage levels observed during the study period, we estimated a relative decline in weekly all-cause AGE hospitalization rates of 45.6% (95% CI: 29.2%, 58.2%) for an increase in \geq 1-dose coverage to 87.0%, or 45.1% (95% CI: 29.0%, 57.6%) for an increase in \geq 2-dose coverage to 72.5%. Adjusted model coefficients, RRs and 95% CI are presented in **Table 5-1**.

Sensitivity analyses

The results of our sensitivity analyses are presented in **Figure 5-3**. In general, estimates were consistent with our primary analyses, except for our analysis excluding the 2011-12 rotavirus season, which found a larger relative reduction in our outcome associated with the rotavirus vaccine program (adjusted relative decline: 34.1% 95% CI: 20.9%, 45.1%). We observed little difference between 95% CI estimated via standard procedures versus a robust covariance estimator.

Table 5-1. Adjusted model coefficients, rate ratios (RR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) for the dichotomous and continuous representations of our exposure, the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program. Model coefficients represent the log(RR) for each exposure derived from fully-adjusted negative binomial generalized linear models implemented with a log link function.

Exposure	Model coefficient (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	Unit
Dichotomous	-0.34646 (-0.51299, -0.17993)	0.707 (0.599, 0.835)	
Continuous			
>=1-dose coverage	-0.00700 (-0.01003, -0.00397)	0.993 (0.990, 0.996)	per 1% increase
		0.932 (0.905, 0.961)	per 10% increase
		0.544 (0.418, 0.708)	per increase to max coverage (87.0%)
>=2-dose coverage	-0.00828 (-0.01183, -0.00473)	0.992 (0.988, 0.995)	per 1% increase
		0.921 (0.888, 0.954)	per 10% increase
		0.549 (0.424, 0.710)	per increase to max coverage (72.5%)

Figure 5-1. Weekly rates of all-cause acute gastroenteritis (AGE) hospitalizations among children 8 to 35 months of age, June 1998 – December 2014. The top chart depicts the pre- and post-vaccine program periods used for the dichotomous characterization of our exposure; the bottom chart depicts the estimated percentage of rotavirus \geq 1- and \geq 2-dose vaccine coverage, used for the continuous representation of our exposure.





Figure 5-2. Observed counts versus predicted model estimates and 95% confidence intervals (CI) of weekly all-cause AGE hospitalizations over time. Plots of predicted values are derived from fully-adjusted models with the exposure characterized as either: (i) a dichotomous variable representing presence or absence of the program, (ii) a continuous variable representing \geq 1-dose rotavirus vaccine coverage, or (iii) a continuous variable representing \geq 2-dose rotavirus vaccine coverage.



Continuous exposure: >=1-dose



Continuous exposure: >=2-dose





Figure 5-3. Sensitivity analyses examining the adjusted overall effect of the Quebec rotavirus

vaccine program on the weekly rate of all-cause AGE hospitalizations. ⁺For continuous exposures, rate ratios and percent relative decrease are estimated for a 10% increase in population rotavirus coverage.

Analysis		Percent relative decrease (95% CI)
	Favors	Favors no
Dichotomous exposure	vaccination	vaccination
Primary analysis	_	29.3% (95% CI: 16.5%, 40.1%)
Exclusion of 2011-12 season	_	34.1% (95% CI: 20.9%, 45.1%)
Robust covariance estimator	B	29.3% (95% CI: 16.5%, 40.1%)
Quasi-Poisson -		30.5% (95% CI: 17.8%, 41.3%)
Continuous exposure: >=1-dose+		
Primary analysis	-#-	6.8% (95% CI: 3.9%, 9.5%)
Exclusion of missing coverage		7.5% (95% CI: 4.1%, 10.7%)
Linear interpolation of coverage	-=-	7.0% (95% CI: 4.0%, 9.8%)
Montreal coverage only	-8-	6.8% (95% CI: 4.0%, 9.5%)
Robust covariance estimator	-#	6.8% (95% CI: 3.7%, 9.7%)
Quasi-Poisson	-#-	7.0% (95% Cl: 4.1%, 9.9%)
Continuous exposure: >=2-dose+		
Primary analysis		7.9% (95% CI: 4.6%, 11.2%)
Exclusion of missing coverage		8.8% (95% CI: 4.9%, 12.6%)
Linear interpolation of coverage		8.2% (95% CI: 4.8%, 11.5%)
Montreal coverage only		7.8% (95% CI: 4.6%, 10.9%)
Robust covariance estimator		7.9% (95% CI: 4.4%, 11.4%)
Quasi-Poisson	-#-	8.2% (95% CI: 4.9%, 11.5%)
0,5 0	6 07 08 09 1	∔ 0 11
0.0 0	Rate Ratio (95% CI))

Discussion

After adjustment for seasonality and other factors, we estimated that a 10% increase in \geq 1dose rotavirus vaccine coverage was associated with a nearly 7% relative decrease in the weekly rate of all-cause AGE hospitalizations among children 8 to 35 months of age. For an increase to 87% rotavirus \geq 1-dose coverage, or the highest coverage level in the population during the study period, we estimated that adjusted weekly rates of all-cause AGE hospitalization declined by nearly 46%.

By comparison, for the dichotomous representation of the vaccine program, as traditionally used to estimate the overall effect of rotavirus vaccine programs in time series analyses,^{24,27,28,69,198} we estimated that weekly rates of all-cause AGE hospitalizations declined in the post- versus prevaccine period an average of 29%, using an effective program start date of November 14, 2011, or 34%, excluding the 2011-12 season as a transition period. While these analyses are valid to ascertain the mean weekly effect attributable to the vaccine program since its implementation, the results are not easily generalizable to post-program periods, particularly if there is a change in population vaccine coverage.

Direct comparison of the overall program effect to otherwise similar jurisdictions with differing vaccine coverage is also not straightforward, since interpretation of program-related reductions must be made in the context of population vaccine coverage. While most systematic reviews and/or meta-analyses (SR/MA) that compare overall effects between vaccine programs report jurisdictional vaccine coverage in their narrative or a results table,⁷⁶⁻⁸⁰ it is difficult for readers to synthesize this information. Other SR/MA account for differences in vaccine coverage in their analyses by stratifying overall effect estimates by coverage;^{81,82} while this is a better method for comparison, coverage strata in these SR/MA were overly broad (*i.e.* coverage <50% vs. \geq 50%, or low/moderate/high coverage), which may be insufficient to adjust for differences in program effects due to vaccine coverage.

While it is also possible to directly adjust for vaccine coverage in meta-analyses using statistical models,⁸³ the overall effect estimates from primary studies may not reflect a post-program period with uniform vaccine coverage. This may be particularly true for the evaluation of new vaccine programs, such as rotavirus, where program estimates represent a period in which rotavirus vaccine coverage is rapidly changing in the population;^{24,25,27,28,75} thus, direct adjustment for vaccine coverage in pooled analyses of the overall effect may not be possible or accurate.

In each of these scenarios, estimates of the overall effect attributable to a per-unit change in vaccine coverage may be particularly useful to extrapolate estimates to other coverage levels, directly compare estimates between otherwise similar jurisdictions, or to incorporate into statistical models pooling program effect estimates from differing jurisdictions. For these reasons, we suggest that the overall effect attributable to a per-unit change in vaccine coverage may be a useful measure to supplement traditional methods to estimate the overall effect of a vaccine program. Where vaccine coverage data are available, authors may consider estimating both the overall program effect attributable to the vaccine program as a whole, and a per-unit change in vaccine coverage, in order to enhance the generalizability of their results.

Limitations

Our analyses have some limitations. First, in modeling our continuous exposure, we assumed that the increase in the log of weekly all-cause AGE hospitalization rates associated with a 1% increase in coverage was the same across all levels of observed vaccine coverage in the population (*i.e.* assumption of a log-linear relationship). This may be an oversimplified representation of the dynamic relationship between vaccine coverage and inducement of indirect (*i.e.* herd) effects, and is an area for future research. Second, our approach ignores the potential implications of vaccination in other population subgroups on indirect effects; though this is not an issue in the present study because our study population represents the entire population eligible for vaccination, we recommend that researchers consider adjustment for population. Third, we did not include sampling error for coverage estimates in our analyses; nonetheless, we conducted multiple sensitivity analyses that explored the effect of differing coverage estimates, and did not find meaningful differences in our results. Lastly, we were unable to ascertain the effect of the program on rotavirus hospitalizations directly; however, broadening our definition to all-cause AGE hospitalizations should only attenuate our effect estimates.

Conclusion

In the evaluation of a vaccine program, researchers should consider estimating the overall effect attributable to a per-unit increase in vaccine coverage in the population, in addition to estimating the overall effect of the program. In our examination of the effect of the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program, we estimated that each 10% increase in \geq 1-dose rotavirus vaccine

coverage was associated with a nearly 7% relative decrease in the rate of weekly all-cause AGE hospitalizations among children 8 to 35 months of age. Using this approach of estimating the incremental effect of increasing coverage as part of measuring the program effect should promote generalizability of vaccine program effectiveness estimates across settings with differing coverage.

Chapter 6: Summary & Conclusions

6.1 Summary of Research

The goal of my doctoral thesis was to advance scientific knowledge regarding rotavirus vaccine programs and epidemiologic methods related to vaccine program assessment through the evaluation of the Quebec RV1 rotavirus vaccine program. Specifically, the first objective of my thesis was to examine the vaccine effectiveness, or direct effect, of the RV1 vaccine to prevent pediatric emergency department visits and hospitalizations. The second objective of my thesis was to estimate rotavirus vaccination coverage among the Quebec population eligible for vaccination, and innovate upon existing methods of vaccine coverage assessment. Finally, the third objective of my thesis was to evaluate the population impact, or overall effect, of the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program as a whole, according to standard practice, and the effect attributable to a per-unit change in vaccine coverage, a newly proposed measure that may help to promote the generalizability of overall effect estimates.

In the first manuscript entitled, "Effectiveness of monovalent rotavirus vaccine in a highincome, predominant use setting", I implemented a test-negative case-control study design to estimate RV1 vaccine effectiveness among eligible children seeking emergency care for acute gastroenteritis who were enrolled in active rotavirus surveillance at 3 Quebec hospitals. Prior to this work, there was little research that examined RV1 vaccine effectiveness in a high-income setting, where it was predominantly used over RV5 vaccine. I estimated that the adjusted \geq 1-dose RV1 vaccine effectiveness was 92.5% (95% CI: 69.3%, 98.2%) to prevent emergency department visits and hospitalizations among children less than 3 years of age, and concluded that RV1 vaccine effectiveness was similar to RV1 vaccine effectiveness in other high-income settings with concurrent RV1 and RV5 vaccine use.^{60-62,64,84,85} In this manuscript, I also examined longitudinal trends in rotavirus strain circulation in Quebec in the three seasons post-program implementation, and found an increase in heterotypic and partly-heterotypic rotavirus strains over time.

In the second manuscript entitled, "Two birds with one stone: estimating population vaccination coverage from a test-negative vaccine effectiveness case-control study", I demonstrated how population rotavirus vaccine coverage may be estimated using coverage data from control subjects enrolled in a test-negative rotavirus vaccine effectiveness case-control study,

and estimated that rotavirus \geq 1-dose coverage was 86.8% (95% CI: 82.7%, 90.0%) among participants eligible for vaccination under the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program. I also present the underlying assumptions required to generalize rotavirus vaccine coverage estimates to a broader population, validated coverage estimates with comparison to estimates from the Quebec immunization survey, and used simulations to explore the effect of diagnostic accuracy to discern control subjects on coverage estimates. I concluded that controls from a test-negative vaccine effectiveness case-control study may be a valuable resource for vaccine coverage information, when reasonable assumptions can be made to generalize coverage estimates.

In the third and final manuscript entitled, "Estimation of the overall effect of a rotavirus vaccine program attributable to a per-unit change in vaccine coverage in the population", I evaluated the impact, or overall effect, of the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program to prevent allcause AGE hospitalizations among a random sample of approximately 25% of children 8 to 35 months of age residing in the Montreal census metropolitan area, using a time series study design. In accordance with standard practice, I estimated the overall effect of the vaccine program as a rate ratio comparing adjusted rates of our outcome in the post-versus pre-vaccine periods. Additionally, I demonstrated how the overall effect may be characterized as the effect associated with a 10% increase in rotavirus vaccine coverage in the population by using continuous rotavirus vaccine coverage as the exposure variable, derived from the application of the study design highlighted in objective 2. I estimated that the vaccine program was associated with a mean 29.3% (95% CI: 16.5%, 40.1%) relative decline in adjusted weekly rates of all-cause acute gastroenteritis hospitalizations in the post-versus pre-vaccine period, or that a 10% increase in rotavirus \geq 1-dose vaccine coverage was associated with a 6.8% (95% CI: 3.9%, 9.5%) relative decline in adjusted weekly rates. I also discussed the utility of measuring the overall effect associated with a per-unit change in vaccine coverage, and concluded that researchers may consider estimating this measure, in addition to standard measures, to promote the generalizability of their estimates to other coverage levels and settings.

6.2 Limitations

In addition to the specific limitations outlined within each of the three manuscripts located within Chapters 3-5, there are limitations relevant to the collective findings of this thesis that are important to highlight. First, a reoccurring limitation among all three manuscripts is that this evaluation is limited to three rotavirus seasons in the post-vaccine era. During this period, we demonstrated that rotavirus ≥1-dose coverage vaccine coverage in the population rapidly increased to 86.8% (95% CI: 82.7%, 90.0%) among participants eligible for vaccination under the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program. Although the introductory period of a new vaccine program is ideal to measure vaccine effectiveness given the potential for residual confounding when the population vaccine coverage is too low or too high,⁵¹ data from three rotavirus seasons following program implementation may be insufficient to accurately characterize the average overall effect of a vaccine program in the post-vaccine period, or sufficiently examine circulating rotavirus strains in the post-vaccine era. Nonetheless, our time series evaluation of the overall effect of a RV1-only vaccine program on all-cause AGE hospitalizations included a greater post-vaccine period than time series evaluations from other high-income jurisdictions with RV1-only programs, to date.^{24,28} Further, documenting early changes in pediatric rotavirus AGE is useful to justify the scope and financial costs of the program, and prioritize areas of future research.

Similarly, another limitation of this research is that the study populations were restricted geographically. In the examination of the RV1 vaccine effectiveness and vaccine coverage, we were only able to include data collected from 3 university hospitals located in 1 urban and 1 rural location in the Province of Quebec, while the evaluation of the overall effect of RV1 vaccination was limited to a sample of residents from the Montreal census metropolitan area. In general, adjusted RV1 vaccine effectiveness is not expected to differ across regions of Quebec, given that characteristics of the vaccinated population and rotavirus transmission dynamics throughout the province are likely similar. While vaccine coverage may differ geographically, stratified estimates of coverage did not reveal coverage differences between the regions surveyed, or differences from provincial estimates from the Quebec immunization survey. Where vaccine coverage does vary by Quebec region, however, we would expect the overall effect attributable to the vaccine program as a whole to also differ geographically. Nonetheless, the characterization of the overall effect attributable to a per-unit change in vaccine coverage may be more generalizable across provincial settings with varying vaccine coverage.

6.3 Implications and Directions for Future Research

This research makes several important contributions to further the current scientific understanding of rotavirus vaccination programs or evaluative methods for vaccine programs, generally. Specifically, findings of RV1 vaccine effectiveness to prevent emergency department visits and hospitalizations from the first manuscript further supports the implementation of RV1-

only vaccine programs, given that RV1 vaccine is similarly effective to prevent severe gastroenteritis as RV1 and RV5 concurrent settings. Additionally, we provide early data to examine the prevalence of circulating rotavirus strains in Quebec, following the implementation of an RV1-only vaccination program. In this analysis, we observed an increase in heterotypic and partly-heterotypic rotavirus strains, underscoring the importance of continued strain surveillance to monitor longitudinal trends in rotavirus strain circulation in Quebec.

In manuscript 2, we suggest an alternative design to evaluate vaccine coverage, documenting its assumptions and bias under varying scenarios of diagnostic accuracy. While this method should not be considered a replacement to traditional vaccine coverage surveys, it may be a useful addition to evaluate vaccine coverage, particularly for a newly implemented vaccine program, where survey methods may not be readily used to rapidly examine the uptake of vaccine, and a test-negative vaccine effectiveness case-control study is planned. As a result of this work, we hope that other researchers consider using this design to evaluate vaccine coverage where appropriate, and continue to explore alternative methods for the evaluation of vaccine coverage.

In manuscript 3, we provide estimates of the overall effect of a RV1 vaccination program, fully adjusted for secular and seasonal trends, with the inclusion of three years of data following the implementation of a RV1 vaccine program. Data from this evaluation support the sustained reduction in the burden of pediatric rotavirus AGE hospitalizations, similar to reductions found in the first year following the implementation of RV1-only vaccine programs in other jurisdictions.^{24,28} An additional contribution of this work is the proposal that researchers consider characterization of the overall effect as the effect attributable to a per-unit change in vaccine coverage, with a discussion of the utility of this non-standard approach. As a result of this work, we hope that other researchers consider using this alternative measure to characterize the overall effect, as it may facilitate comparisons between similar jurisdictions with different vaccine programs, and provide insights into the consequences of program decisions on population health outcomes.

6.4 Conclusions

Collectively, the results from this thesis research demonstrate the relative success of the Quebec monovalent rotavirus vaccine program, with (i) greater than 90% effectiveness of monovalent rotavirus vaccine to prevent emergency department visits and hospitalizations due to rotavirus gastroenteritis, (ii) achievement of more than $85\% \ge 1$ -dose rotavirus vaccine coverage

among the population eligible for vaccination under the new program, and (iii) a near 30% average relative decline in adjusted weekly rates of all-cause acute gastroenteritis hospitalizations since the implementation of the program among children 8 to 35 months of age. This research also makes two important methodological contributions to the field of vaccine program evaluation with its suggestion of an alternative design to estimate vaccine coverage in the population, and an additional measure to estimate the overall effect of a vaccine program. While this research highlights the initial success of the Quebec rotavirus vaccine program, ongoing research is necessary to evaluate the program's continued achievements.

Back Matter

References

- 1. Buigues RP, Duval B, Rochette L, et al. Hospitalizations for diarrhea in Quebec children from 1985 to 1998: estimates of rotavirus-associated diarrhea. *The Canadian journal of infectious diseases = Journal canadien des maladies infectieuses.* 2002;13(4):239-244.
- 2. Rivest P, Proulx M, Lonergan G, Lebel MH, Bedard L. Hospitalisations for gastroenteritis: the role of rotavirus. *Vaccine.* 2004;22(15-16):2013-2017.
- 3. Ford-Jones EL, Wang E, Petric M, Corey P, Moineddin R, Fearon M. Hospitalization for community-acquired, rotavirus-associated diarrhea: a prospective, longitudinal, population-based study during the seasonal outbreak. The Greater Toronto Area/Peel Region PRESI Study Group. Pediatric Rotavirus Epidemiology Study for Immunization. Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine. 2000;154(6):578-585.
- 4. Ford-Jones EL, Wang E, Petric M, Corey P, Moineddin R, Fearon M. Rotavirusassociated diarrhea in outpatient settings and child care centers. The Greater Toronto Area/Peel Region PRESI Study Group. Pediatric Rotavirus Epidemiology Study for Immunization. *Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine.* 2000;154(6):586-593.
- 5. Senecal M, Brisson M, Lebel MH, et al. Measuring the Impact of Rotavirus Acute Gastroenteritis Episodes (MIRAGE): A prospective community-based study. *The Canadian journal of infectious diseases & medical microbiology = Journal canadien des maladies infectieuses et de la microbiologie medicale / AMMI Canada.* 2008;19(6):397-404.
- 6. Waters V, Ford-Jones EL, Petric M, Fearon M, Corey P, Moineddein R. Etiology of community-acquired pediatric viral diarrhea: a prospective longitudinal study in hospitals, emergency departments, pediatric practices and child care centers during the winter rotavirus outbreak, 1997 to 1998. The Pediatric Rotavirus Epidemiology Study for Immunization Study Group. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal.* 2000;19(9):843-848.
- 7. Bernard S, Valiquette L, De Wals P, et al. Burden of rotavirus disease: A populationbased study in Eastern Townships, Quebec. *The Canadian journal of infectious diseases & medical microbiology = Journal canadien des maladies infectieuses et de la microbiologie medicale / AMMI Canada.* 2013;24(3):138-142.
- 8. Coyle D, Coyle K, Bettinger JA, et al. Cost effectiveness of infant vaccination for rotavirus in Canada. *The Canadian journal of infectious diseases & medical microbiology = Journal canadien des maladies infectieuses et de la microbiologie medicale / AMMI Canada.* 2012;23(2):71-77.
- 9. Health Canada. RotaTeq. *Drugs and Health Products, Product Information* <u>http://webprod5.hc-sc.gc.ca/dpd-bdpp/dispatch-repartition.do?lang=eng</u>. Accessed December 17, 2013.
- 10. Health Canada. Rotarix. *Drug and Health Products, Product Information* <u>http://webprod5.hc-sc.gc.ca/dpd-bdpp/dispatch-repartition.do?lang=eng</u>. Accessed December 17, 2013.

- 11. Halloran ME. Overview of vaccine field studies: types of effects and designs. *Journal of biopharmaceutical statistics.* 2006;16(4):415-427.
- 12. Halloran ME, Longini IM, Jr., Struchiner CJ. Design and interpretation of vaccine field studies. *Epidemiologic reviews.* 1999;21(1):73-88.
- 13. Halloran ME, Longini IM, Struchiner CJ, Longini IM, Struchiner CJ. *Design and analysis of vaccine studies.* Springer; 2010.
- 14. Halloran ME, Struchiner CJ. Study designs for dependent happenings. *Epidemiology*. 1991;2(5):331-338.
- 15. Parashar UD, Bresee JS, Gentsch JR, Glass RI. Rotavirus. *Emerging infectious diseases.* 1998;4(4):561-570.
- 16. Wreghitt T. *Clinical and diagnostic virology.* Cambridge University Press; 2009.
- 17. Santos N, Hoshino Y. Global distribution of rotavirus serotypes/genotypes and its implication for the development and implementation of an effective rotavirus vaccine. *Reviews in medical virology.* 2005;15(1):29-56.
- 18. Pitzer VE, Viboud C, Simonsen L, et al. Demographic variability, vaccination, and the spatiotemporal dynamics of rotavirus epidemics. *Science*. 2009;325(5938):290-294.
- 19. Pitzer VE, Viboud C, Lopman BA, Patel MM, Parashar UD, Grenfell BT. Influence of birth rates and transmission rates on the global seasonality of rotavirus incidence. *Journal of the Royal Society, Interface / the Royal Society.* 2011;8(64):1584-1593.
- 20. Sato T, Nakagomi T, Naghipour M, Nakagomi O. Modeling seasonal variation in rotavirus hospitalizations for use in evaluating the effect of rotavirus vaccine. *Journal of medical virology.* 2010;82(8):1468-1474.
- 21. Payne DC, Staat MA, Edwards KM, et al. Active, population-based surveillance for severe rotavirus gastroenteritis in children in the United States. *Pediatrics*. 2008;122(6):1235-1243.
- 22. Staat MA, Azimi PH, Berke T, et al. Clinical presentations of rotavirus infection among hospitalized children. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal*. 2002;21(3):221-227.
- 23. Matson DO, Staat MA, Azimi P, et al. Burden of rotavirus hospitalisations in young children in three paediatric hospitals in the United States determined by active surveillance compared to standard indirect methods. *Journal of paediatrics and child health.* 2012;48(8):698-704.
- 24. Atchison CJ, Stowe J, Andrews N, et al. Rapid Declines in Age Group-Specific Rotavirus Infection and Acute Gastroenteritis Among Vaccinated and Unvaccinated Individuals Within 1 Year of Rotavirus Vaccine Introduction in England and Wales. *The Journal of infectious diseases.* 2016;213(2):243-249.
- 25. Davey HM, Muscatello DJ, Wood JG, Snelling TL, Ferson MJ, Macartney KK. Impact of high coverage of monovalent human rotavirus vaccine on Emergency Department presentations for rotavirus gastroenteritis. *Vaccine.* 2015;33(14):1726-1730.
- 26. Gastanaduy PA, Curns AT, Parashar UD, Lopman BA. Gastroenteritis hospitalizations in older children and adults in the United States before and after implementation of infant rotavirus vaccination. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association.* 2013;310(8):851-853.
- 27. Thomas SL, Walker JL, Fenty J, et al. Impact of the national rotavirus vaccination programme on acute gastroenteritis in England and associated costs averted. *Vaccine.* 2017;35(4):680-686.

- 28. Wilson SE, Rosella LC, Wang J, et al. Population-Level Impact of Ontario's Infant Rotavirus Immunization Program: Evidence of Direct and Indirect Effects. *PLoS One.* 2016;11(5):e0154340.
- 29. Vesikari T, Karvonen A, Prymula R, et al. Efficacy of human rotavirus vaccine against rotavirus gastroenteritis during the first 2 years of life in European infants: randomised, double-blind controlled study. *Lancet.* 2007;370(9601):1757-1763.
- 30. Vesikari T, Karvonen A, Ferrante SA, Ciarlet M. Efficacy of the pentavalent rotavirus vaccine, RotaTeq(R), in Finnish infants up to 3 years of age: the Finnish Extension Study. *European journal of pediatrics.* 2010;169(11):1379-1386.
- 31. Québec Ministère de la Santé et des Services sociaux. Rotavirus Vaccine. 2016; http://publications.msss.gouv.qc.ca/msss/fichiers/piq/feuillets_complets_en.pdf.
- 32. Salvadori M, Le Saux N. Recommendations for the use of rotavirus vaccines in infants. *Paediatr Child Health.* 2010;15(8):519-528.
- 33. Comeau JL, Gagneur A, Quach C. Impact of a publicly funded monovalent rotavirus vaccination program in the Province of Quebec (Canada). *Vaccine.* 2016;34(7):893-898.
- 34. Gosselin V, Genereux M, Gagneur A, Petit G. Effectiveness of rotavirus vaccine in preventing severe gastroenteritis in young children according to socioeconomic status. *Human vaccines & immunotherapeutics.* 2016;12(10):2572-2579.
- 35. World Health Organization. *Principles and considerations for adding a vaccine to a national immunization programme: from decision to implementation and monitoring.* World Health Organization; 2014.
- 36. Cutts FT, Claquin P, Danovaro-Holliday MC, Rhoda DA. Monitoring vaccination coverage: Defining the role of surveys. *Vaccine.* 2016;34(35):4103-4109.
- 37. Guerin N. Assessing immunization coverage: how and why? *Vaccine.* 1998;16 Suppl:S81-83.
- 38. Fairbrother G, Freed GL, Thompson JW. Measuring immunization coverage. *Am J Prev Med.* 2000;19(3 Suppl):78-88.
- 39. Dube E, Laberge C, Guay M, Bramadat P, Roy R, Bettinger J. Vaccine hesitancy: an overview. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. 2013;9(8):1763-1773.
- 40. Elam-Evans LD, Yankey D, Singleton JA, Kolasa M, Centers for Disease C, Prevention. National, state, and selected local area vaccination coverage among children aged 19-35 months - United States, 2013. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2014;63(34):741-748.
- 41. Doll MK, Rosen JB, Bialek SR, Szeto H, Zimmerman CM. An evaluation of voluntary 2dose varicella vaccination coverage in New York City public schools. *Am J Public Health.* 2015;105(5):972-979.
- 42. Khare M, Piccinino L, Barker LE, Linkins RW. Assessment of immunization registry databases as supplemental sources of data to improve ascertainment of vaccination coverage estimates in the national immunization survey. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2006;160(8):838-842.
- 43. Boulianne N, Audet D, Ouakki M. Enquête sur la couverture vaccinale des enfants de 1 an et 2 ans au Québec en 2014. 2015; <u>http://www.inspq.qc.ca/pdf/publications/1973 Enquete Couverture Vaccinale Enf</u> <u>ants.pdf</u>. Accessed 28 June, 2016.

- 44. Burton A, Monasch R, Lautenbach B, et al. WHO and UNICEF estimates of national infant immunization coverage: methods and processes. *Bull World Health Organ.* 2009;87(7):535-541.
- 45. Siedler A, Rieck T, Reuss A, et al. Estimating vaccination coverage in the absence of immunisation registers--the German experience. *Euro Surveill.* 2012;17(17).
- Board of Scientific Counselors, National Center for Health Statistics. Program Review National Immunization Survey (NIS) and State and Local Area Integrated Telephone Survey (SLAITS). November 27-28, 2007; <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/bsc/program_review_reports/bsc_nis_progmatl.p</u> <u>df</u>. Accessed June 28, 2016.
- 47. Ganesh N, Khare M, Ormson EA, et al. Noncoverage Adjustments in a Single-Frame Cell-Phone Survey: Weighting Approach to Adjust for Phoneless and Landline-Only Households.
- 48. Weinberg GA, Szilagyi PG. Vaccine epidemiology: efficacy, effectiveness, and the translational research roadmap. *The Journal of infectious diseases.* 2010;201(11):1607-1610.
- 49. Clemens J, Brenner R, Rao M, Tafari N, Lowe C. Evaluating new vaccines for developing countries. Efficacy or effectiveness? *JAMA*. 1996;275(5):390-397.
- 50. Hanquet G, Valenciano M, Simondon F, Moren A. Vaccine effects and impact of vaccination programmes in post-licensure studies. *Vaccine.* 2013;31(48):5634-5642.
- 51. Verani JR, Baqui AH, Broome CV, et al. Case-control vaccine effectiveness studies: Preparation, design, and enrollment of cases and controls. *Vaccine.* 2017.
- 52. Fedson DS. Measuring protection: efficacy versus effectiveness. *Developments in biological standardization.* 1998;95:195-201.
- 53. Foppa IM, Haber M, Ferdinands JM, Shay DK. The case test-negative design for studies of the effectiveness of influenza vaccine. *Vaccine*. 2013;31(30):3104-3109.
- 54. Jackson ML, Nelson JC. The test-negative design for estimating influenza vaccine effectiveness. *Vaccine.* 2013;31(17):2165-2168.
- 55. De Serres G, Skowronski DM, Wu XW, Ambrose CS. The test-negative design: validity, accuracy and precision of vaccine efficacy estimates compared to the gold standard of randomised placebo-controlled clinical trials. *Euro surveillance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles = European communicable disease bulletin*. 2013;18(37).
- 56. Sullivan SG, Tchetgen Tchetgen EJ, Cowling BJ. Theoretical Basis of the Test-Negative Study Design for Assessment of Influenza Vaccine Effectiveness. *American journal of epidemiology.* 2016;184(5):345-353.
- 57. Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL. *Modern epidemiology.* Wolters Kluwer Health; 2008.
- 58. Greenland S, Thomas DC. On the need for the rare disease assumption in casecontrol studies. *American journal of epidemiology.* 1982;116(3):547-553.
- 59. Orenstein WA, Bernier RH, Dondero TJ, et al. Field evaluation of vaccine efficacy. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization.* 1985;63(6):1055-1068.
- 60. Martinon-Torres F, Bouzon Alejandro M, Redondo Collazo L, et al. Effectiveness of rotavirus vaccination in Spain. *Human vaccines.* 2011;7(7):757-761.

- 61. Cortese MM, Immergluck LC, Held M, et al. Effectiveness of monovalent and pentavalent rotavirus vaccine. *Pediatrics.* 2013;132(1):e25-33.
- 62. Payne DC, Boom JA, Staat MA, et al. Effectiveness of pentavalent and monovalent rotavirus vaccines in concurrent use among US children <5 years of age, 2009-2011. *Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America.* 2013;57(1):13-20.
- 63. Boom JA, Tate JE, Sahni LC, et al. Effectiveness of pentavalent rotavirus vaccine in a large urban population in the United States. *Pediatrics*. 2010;125(2):e199-207.
- 64. Castilla J, Beristain X, Martinez-Artola V, et al. Effectiveness of rotavirus vaccines in preventing cases and hospitalizations due to rotavirus gastroenteritis in Navarre, Spain. *Vaccine.* 2012;30(3):539-543.
- 65. Muhsen K, Shulman L, Kasem E, et al. Effectiveness of rotavirus vaccines for prevention of rotavirus gastroenteritis-associated hospitalizations in Israel: a case-control study. *Human vaccines.* 2010;6(6):450-454.
- 66. Orenstein EW, De Serres G, Haber MJ, et al. Methodologic issues regarding the use of three observational study designs to assess influenza vaccine effectiveness. *International journal of epidemiology.* 2007;36(3):623-631.
- 67. Jackson ML, Rothman KJ. Effects of imperfect test sensitivity and specificity on observational studies of influenza vaccine effectiveness. *Vaccine.* 2015;33(11):1313-1316.
- 68. Tate JE, Patel MM, Cortese MM, et al. Use of Patients With Diarrhea Who Test Negative for Rotavirus as Controls to Estimate Rotavirus Vaccine Effectiveness Through Case-Control Studies. *Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America.* 2016;62 Suppl 2:S106-114.
- 69. Mealing N, Hayen A, Newall AT. Assessing the impact of vaccination programmes on burden of disease: Underlying complexities and statistical methods. *Vaccine.* 2016.
- 70. World Health Organization. Generic protocol for monitoring impact of rotavirus vaccination on gastroenteritis disease burden and viral strains. 2008.
- 71. Imai C, Armstrong B, Chalabi Z, Mangtani P, Hashizume M. Time series regression model for infectious disease and weather. *Environ Res.* 2015;142:319-327.
- 72. Bhaskaran K, Gasparrini A, Hajat S, Smeeth L, Armstrong B. Time series regression studies in environmental epidemiology. *Int J Epidemiol.* 2013;42(4):1187-1195.
- 73. Brumback BA, Ryan LM, Schwartz JD, Neas LM, Stark PC, Burge HA. Transitional Regression Models, with Application to Environmental Time Series. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*. 2000;95(449):16-27.
- 74. Lopman B, Armstrong B, Atchison C, Gray JJ. Host, weather and virological factors drive norovirus epidemiology: time-series analysis of laboratory surveillance data in England and Wales. *PLoS One.* 2009;4(8):e6671.
- 75. Ngabo F, Tate JE, Gatera M, et al. Effect of pentavalent rotavirus vaccine introduction on hospital admissions for diarrhoea and rotavirus in children in Rwanda: a time-series analysis. *Lancet Glob Health.* 2016;4(2):e129-136.
- 76. Giaquinto C, Dominiak-Felden G, Van Damme P, et al. Summary of effectiveness and impact of rotavirus vaccination with the oral pentavalent rotavirus vaccine: a systematic review of the experience in industrialized countries. *Hum Vaccin.* 2011;7(7):734-748.

- 77. Mariani L, Vici P, Suligoi B, Checcucci-Lisi G, Drury R. Early direct and indirect impact of quadrivalent HPV (4HPV) vaccine on genital warts: a systematic review. *Adv Ther.* 2015;32(1):10-30.
- 78. Mongua-Rodriguez N, Diaz-Ortega JL, Garcia-Garcia L, et al. A systematic review of rubella vaccination strategies implemented in the Americas: impact on the incidence and seroprevalence rates of rubella and congenital rubella syndrome. *Vaccine.* 2013;31(17):2145-2151.
- 79. Myint TT, Madhava H, Balmer P, et al. The impact of 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on invasive pneumococcal disease: a literature review. *Adv Ther.* 2013;30(2):127-151.
- 80. Stuurman AL, Marano C, Bunge EM, De Moerlooze L, Shouval D. Impact of universal mass vaccination with monovalent inactivated hepatitis A vaccines A systematic review. *Human vaccines & immunotherapeutics.* 2017;13(3):724-736.
- 81. Drolet M, Benard E, Boily MC, et al. Population-level impact and herd effects following human papillomavirus vaccination programmes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2015;15(5):565-580.
- 82. Garland SM, Kjaer SK, Munoz N, et al. Impact and Effectiveness of the Quadrivalent Human Papillomavirus Vaccine: A Systematic Review of 10 Years of Real-world Experience. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2016;63(4):519-527.
- 83. Shiri T, Datta S, Madan J, et al. Indirect effects of childhood pneumococcal conjugate vaccination on invasive pneumococcal disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Glob Health.* 2017;5(1):e51-e59.
- 84. Chang WC, Yen C, Wu FT, et al. Effectiveness of 2 rotavirus vaccines against rotavirus disease in Taiwanese infants. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal*. 2014;33(3):e81-86.
- 85. Marlow R, Ferreira M, Cordeiro E, et al. Case Control Study of Rotavirus Vaccine Effectiveness in Portugal during Six Years of Private Market Use. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal.* 2014.
- 86. Panozzo CA, Becker-Dreps S, Pate V, et al. Direct, Indirect, Total, and Overall Effectiveness of the Rotavirus Vaccines for the Prevention of Gastroenteritis Hospitalizations in Privately Insured US Children, 2007-2010. *American journal of epidemiology.* 2014.
- 87. Takeuchi M. Bayesian network meta-analysis suggests a similar effectiveness between a monovalent and a pentavalent rotavirus vaccine: A preliminary report of re-analyses of data from a Cochrane Database Systematic Review. *Human vaccines & immunotherapeutics.* 2014;10(5).
- 88. Field EJ, Vally H, Grimwood K, Lambert SB. Pentavalent rotavirus vaccine and prevention of gastroenteritis hospitalizations in Australia. *Pediatrics.* 2010;126(3):e506-512.
- 89. Sahni LC, Boom JA, Patel MM, et al. Use of an immunization information system to assess the effectiveness of pentavalent rotavirus vaccine in US children. *Vaccine.* 2010;28(38):6314-6317.
- 90. Staat MA, Payne DC, Donauer S, et al. Effectiveness of pentavalent rotavirus vaccine against severe disease. *Pediatrics.* 2011;128(2):e267-275.

- 91. Wang FT, Mast TC, Glass RJ, Loughlin J, Seeger JD. Effectiveness of an incomplete RotaTeq (RV5) vaccination regimen in preventing rotavirus gastroenteritis in the United States. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal.* 2013;32(3):278-283.
- 92. Vesikari T, Uhari M, Renko M, et al. Impact and effectiveness of RotaTeq(R) vaccine based on 3 years of surveillance following introduction of a rotavirus immunization program in Finland. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal.* 2013;32(12):1365-1373.
- 93. Gagneur A, Nowak E, Lemaitre T, et al. Impact of rotavirus vaccination on hospitalizations for rotavirus diarrhea: the IVANHOE study. *Vaccine.* 2011;29(21):3753-3759.
- 94. Tate JE, Panozzo CA, Payne DC, et al. Decline and change in seasonality of US rotavirus activity after the introduction of rotavirus vaccine. *Pediatrics.* 2009;124(2):465-471.
- 95. Zeller M, Rahman M, Heylen E, et al. Rotavirus incidence and genotype distribution before and after national rotavirus vaccine introduction in Belgium. *Vaccine.* 2010;28(47):7507-7513.
- 96. Cortes JE, Curns AT, Tate JE, et al. Rotavirus vaccine and health care utilization for diarrhea in U.S. children. *The New England journal of medicine.* 2011;365(12):1108-1117.
- 97. Centers for Disease C, Prevention. Delayed onset and diminished magnitude of rotavirus activity--United States, November 2007-May 2008. *MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report.* 2008;57(25):697-700.
- 98. Centers for Disease C, Prevention. Reduction in rotavirus after vaccine introduction--United States, 2000-2009. *MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report.* 2009;58(41):1146-1149.
- 99. Chang HG, Smith PF, Tserenpuntsag B, Markey K, Parashar U, Morse DL. Reduction in hospitalizations for diarrhea and rotavirus infections in New York state following introduction of rotavirus vaccine. *Vaccine.* 2010;28(3):754-758.
- 100. Patel MM, Tate JE, Selvarangan R, et al. Routine laboratory testing data for surveillance of rotavirus hospitalizations to evaluate the impact of vaccination. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal.* 2007;26(10):914-919.
- 101. Payne DC, Staat MA, Edwards KM, et al. Direct and indirect effects of rotavirus vaccination upon childhood hospitalizations in 3 US Counties, 2006-2009. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2011;53(3):245-253.
- 102. Yen C, Tate JE, Wenk JD, Harris JM, 2nd, Parashar UD. Diarrhea-associated hospitalizations among US children over 2 rotavirus seasons after vaccine introduction. *Pediatrics.* 2011;127(1):e9-e15.
- 103. Desai R, Curns AT, Steiner CA, Tate JE, Patel MM, Parashar UD. All-cause gastroenteritis and rotavirus-coded hospitalizations among US children, 2000-2009. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2012;55(4):e28-34.
- 104. Curns AT, Steiner CA, Barrett M, Hunter K, Wilson E, Parashar UD. Reduction in acute gastroenteritis hospitalizations among US children after introduction of rotavirus vaccine: analysis of hospital discharge data from 18 US states. *The Journal of infectious diseases.* 2010;201(11):1617-1624.

- 105. Wang FT, Mast TC, Glass RJ, Loughlin J, Seeger JD. Effectiveness of the pentavalent rotavirus vaccine in preventing gastroenteritis in the United States. *Pediatrics.* 2010;125(2):e208-213.
- 106. Leino T, Ollgren J, Salo H, Tiihonen P, Kilpi T. First year experience of rotavirus immunisation programme in Finland. *Vaccine.* 2012;31(1):176-182.
- 107. Lopman BA, Curns AT, Yen C, Parashar UD. Infant rotavirus vaccination may provide indirect protection to older children and adults in the United States. *The Journal of infectious diseases.* 2011;204(7):980-986.
- 108. Pérez-Rubio A, Luquero FJ, Luque MRB, de la Torre Pardo P, Bouza JME. Impact of the rotavirus vaccine in Valladolid, Spain: An interrupted time series analysis. *Trials in Vaccinology.* 2016;5:84-87.
- 109. Buttery JP, Lambert SB, Grimwood K, et al. Reduction in rotavirus-associated acute gastroenteritis following introduction of rotavirus vaccine into Australia's National Childhood vaccine schedule. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal.* 2011;30(1 Suppl):S25-29.
- 110. do Carmo GM, Yen C, Cortes J, et al. Decline in diarrhea mortality and admissions after routine childhood rotavirus immunization in Brazil: a time-series analysis. *PLoS medicine.* 2011;8(4):e1001024.
- 111. Macartney KK, Porwal M, Dalton D, et al. Decline in rotavirus hospitalisations following introduction of Australia's national rotavirus immunisation programme. *Journal of paediatrics and child health.* 2011;47(5):266-270.
- 112. Patel MM, Steele D, Gentsch JR, Wecker J, Glass RI, Parashar UD. Real-world impact of rotavirus vaccination. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal.* 2011;30(1):S1-S5.
- 113. Uhlig U, Kostev K, Schuster V, Koletzko S, Uhlig HH. Impact of rotavirus vaccination in Germany: rotavirus surveillance, hospitalization, side effects and comparison of vaccines. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal*. 2014;33(11):e299-304.
- 114. Rha B, Tate JE, Payne DC, et al. Effectiveness and impact of rotavirus vaccines in the United States 2006-2012. *Expert review of vaccines.* 2014;13(3):365-376.
- 115. Vesikari T. Rotavirus vaccination: a concise review. *Clinical microbiology and infection : the official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases.* 2012;18 Suppl 5:57-63.
- 116. Jiang V, Jiang B, Tate J, Parashar UD, Patel MM. Performance of rotavirus vaccines in developed and developing countries. *Human vaccines.* 2010;6(7):532-542.
- 117. Leshem E, Lopman B, Glass R, et al. Distribution of rotavirus strains and strainspecific effectiveness of the rotavirus vaccine after its introduction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Infectious diseases.* 2014;14(9):847-856.
- 118. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Rotavirus vaccination coverage among infants aged 5 months immunization information system sentinel sites, United States, June 2006-June 2009. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2010;59(17):521-524.
- 119. Québec Ministère de la Santé et des Services sociaux. Québec Vaccination Registry. 2017; <u>http://sante.gouv.qc.ca/en/programmes-et-mesures-daide/registre-de-vaccination-du-quebec/description/</u>. Accessed March 14, 2017.
- 120. Braeckman T, Van Herck K, Meyer N, et al. Effectiveness of rotavirus vaccination in prevention of hospital admissions for rotavirus gastroenteritis among young children in Belgium: case-control study. *Bmj.* 2012;345:e4752.

- 121. Matthijnssens J, Nakagomi O, Kirkwood CD, Ciarlet M, Desselberger U, Van Ranst M. Group A rotavirus universal mass vaccination: how and to what extent will selective pressure influence prevalence of rotavirus genotypes? *Expert Rev Vaccines.* 2012;11(11):1347-1354.
- 122. Pitzer VE, Patel MM, Lopman BA, Viboud C, Parashar UD, Grenfell BT. Modeling rotavirus strain dynamics in developed countries to understand the potential impact of vaccination on genotype distributions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 2011;108(48):19353-19358.
- 123. Payne DC, Szilagyi PG, Staat MA, et al. Secular variation in United States rotavirus disease rates and serotypes: implications for assessing the rotavirus vaccination program. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal.* 2009;28(11):948-953.
- 124. Doll MK, Buckeridge DL, Morrison KT, et al. Effectiveness of monovalent rotavirus vaccine in a high-income, predominant-use setting. *Vaccine.* 2015;33(51):7307-7314.
- 125. Public Health Agency of Canada. Publicly Funded Immunization Programs in Canada - Routine Schedule for Infants and Children including special programs and catch-up programs (as of September, 2014). 2014; <u>http://www.phac-</u> <u>aspc.gc.ca/im/ptimprog-progimpt/table-1-eng.php</u>. Accessed March 3, 2015.
- 126. Ministére de la santé et des services sociaux. *Protocole d'immunisation du Québec.* 5 ed2009.
- 127. Gentsch JR, Glass RI, Woods P, et al. Identification of group A rotavirus gene 4 types by polymerase chain reaction. *Journal of clinical microbiology.* 1992;30(6):1365-1373.
- 128. Gonzalez-Galan V, Sanchez-Fauqier A, Obando I, et al. High prevalence of community-acquired norovirus gastroenteritis among hospitalized children: a prospective study. *Clinical microbiology and infection : the official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases.* 2011;17(12):1895-1899.
- 129. Greenland S. Interpretation and choice of effect measures in epidemiologic analyses. *American journal of epidemiology.* 1987;125(5):761-768.
- 130. Gelman A, Carlin JB, Stern HS, Rubin DB. *Bayesian data analysis.* Vol 2: Taylor & Francis; 2014.
- 131. Sante et Services sociaux Quebec. Vaccine against Rotavirus Gastroenteritis.
- 132. Kosanke JL, Bergstralh EJ. Match cases to controls using variable optimal matching. 2004; <u>http://www.mayo.edu/research/departments-divisions/department-health-sciences-research/division-biomedical-statistics-informatics/software/locally-written-sas-macros</u>. Accessed March 4, 2015.
- 133. Knol MJ, Vandenbroucke JP, Scott P, Egger M. What do case-control studies estimate? Survey of methods and assumptions in published case-control research. *American journal of epidemiology.* 2008;168(9):1073-1081.
- 134. Stuart EA. Matching methods for causal inference: A review and a look forward. *Statistical science : a review journal of the Institute of Mathematical Statistics.* 2010;25(1):1-21.
- 135. Su Y-S, Yajima M. R2jags: A Package for RUnning 'JAGS' from R. *R pacakge version* 0.05-03 2015; <u>http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=R2jags</u>.

- 136. Plummer M. JAGS: A program for analysis of Bayesian graphical models using Gibbs sampling. 2003.
- 137. Chetrit E, LHomme Y, SinghSohal J, Quach C. Group A rotaviruses in children with gastroenteritis in a Canadian pediatric hospital : The prevaccine era. *Canadian Journal of Infectious Disease Medicine and Microbiology.* 2013;24:e1-e6.
- 138. Banyai K, Laszlo B, Duque J, et al. Systematic review of regional and temporal trends in global rotavirus strain diversity in the pre rotavirus vaccine era: insights for understanding the impact of rotavirus vaccination programs. *Vaccine.* 2012;30 Suppl 1:A122-130.
- 139. Kirkwood CD, Cannan D, Boniface K, Bishop RF, Barnes GL, Australian Rotavirus Surveillance G. Australian Rotavirus Surveillance Program annual report, 2007/08. *Communicable diseases intelligence quarterly report.* 2008;32(4):425-429.
- 140. Kirkwood CD, Boniface K, Bishop RF, Barnes GL, Australian Rotavirus Surveillance G. Australian Rotavirus Surveillance Program annual report, 2008/2009. *Communicable diseases intelligence quarterly report.* 2009;33(4):382-388.
- 141. Kirkwood CD, Boniface K, Bishop RF, Barnes GL. Australian Rotavirus Surveillance Program: annual report, 2009/2010. *Communicable diseases intelligence quarterly report.* 2010;34(4):427-434.
- 142. Kirkwood CD, Roczo S, Boniface K, Bishop RF, Barnes GL, Australian Rotavirus Surveillance G. Australian Rotavirus Surveillance Program annual report, 2010/11. *Communicable diseases intelligence quarterly report.* 2011;35(4):281-287.
- 143. Kirkwood CD, Roczo-Farkas S, Bishop RF, Barnes GL, Australian Rotavirus Surveillance G. Australian Rotavirus Surveillance Program annual report, 2012. *Communicable diseases intelligence quarterly report.* 2014;38(1):E.
- 144. Kirkwood CD, Roczo-Farkas S, Australian Rotavirus Surveillance G. Australian Rotavirus Surveillance Program annual report, 2013. *Communicable diseases intelligence quarterly report.* 2014;38(4):E334-342.
- 145. Zeller M, Heylen E, Neels P, De Coster S, Van Ranst M, Matthijnssens J. Rotavirus genotype distribution in Belgium: Continued high prevalence of G2, 6 years after vaccine introduction. Annual Meeting of European Society for Paediatric Infectious Diseases (ESPID) May 28, 2013; Milan.
- 146. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Annual Estimates of Influenza Vaccine Effectiveness for Preventing Medically Attended Laboratory-Confirmed Influenza in the United States. *HHS Grants Forecast* 2015; <u>https://forecast.grantsolutions.gov/index.cfm?switch=grant.view&gff grants forecaststlnfolD=100000845</u>. Accessed June 28, 2016.
- 147. Skowronski DM, De Serres G, Dickinson J, et al. Component-specific effectiveness of trivalent influenza vaccine as monitored through a sentinel surveillance network in Canada, 2006-2007. *J Infect Dis.* 2009;199(2):168-179.
- 148. Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL. *Modern epidemiology, 3rd Edition.* Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins; 2008.
- 149. Centre for Biologics Evaluation, Health Products and Food Branch, Health Canada. Summary Basis Decision (SBD): RotaTeq. 2007; <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/dhp-mps/prodpharma/sbd-smd/drug-med/sbd_smd_2007_rotateq_100399-eng.php</u>. Accessed 28 June, 2016.

- 150. Office of Regulatory Affairs, Biologic and Genetic Therapis Directorate, Health Products and Food Branch, Health Canada. Summary Basis of Decision (SBD): Rotarix. 2008; <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/dhp-mps/prodpharma/sbd-smd/drug-</u> med/sbd smd 2008 rotarix 109624-eng.php. Accessed 28 June, 2016.
- 151. Doll MK, Gagneur A, Tapiero B, et al. Temporal Changes in Pediatric Gastroenteritis Following Rotavirus Vaccination in Quebec. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* 2016.
- 152. Ministére de la santé et des services sociaux. 10.1.5 Rota: vaccin contre le rotavirus. *Protocole d'immunisation du Québec* 2009;
 5:<u>http://publications.msss.gouv.qc.ca/acrobat/f/documentation/piq/chap10-1-5.pdf</u>. Accessed 28 June, 2016.
- 153. Zhou XH, Li CM, Yang Z. Improving interval estimation of binomial proportions. *Philosophical transactions Series A, Mathematical, physical, and engineering sciences.* 2008;366(1874):2405-2418.
- 154. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. 2015; <u>http://www.R-project.org/</u>.
- 155. Wikswo ME, Desai R, Edwards KM, et al. Clinical profile of children with norovirus disease in rotavirus vaccine era. *Emerging infectious diseases*. 2013;19(10):1691-1693.
- 156. Hemming M, Rasanen S, Huhti L, Paloniemi M, Salminen M, Vesikari T. Major reduction of rotavirus, but not norovirus, gastroenteritis in children seen in hospital after the introduction of RotaTeq vaccine into the National Immunization Programme in Finland. *European journal of pediatrics.* 2013;172(6):739-746.
- 157. Payne DC, Vinje J, Szilagyi PG, et al. Norovirus and medically attended gastroenteritis in U.S. children. *The New England journal of medicine.* 2013;368(12):1121-1130.
- 158. Esposito S, Ascolese B, Senatore L, Codecà C. Pediatric norovirus infection. *European journal of clinical microbiology & infectious diseases.* 2014;33(3):285-290.
- 159. Masendycz PJ, Palombo EA, Gorrell RJ, Bishop RF. Comparison of enzyme immunoassay, PCR, and type-specific cDNA probe techniques for identification of group A rotavirus gene 4 types (P types). *J Clin Microbiol.* 1997;35(12):3104-3108.
- 160. Vollset SE. Confidence intervals for a binomial proportion. *Statistics in medicine*. 1993;12(9):809-824.
- 161. Wilson EB. Probable inference, the law of succession, and statistical inference. *Journal of the American Statistical Association.* 1927;22(158):209-212.
- 162. Kim SS, Frimpong JA, Rivers PA, Kronenfeld JJ. Effects of maternal and provider characteristics on up-to-date immunization status of children aged 19 to 35 months. *Am J Public Health.* 2007;97(2):259-266.
- 163. Smith PJ, Chu SY, Barker LE. Children who have received no vaccines: who are they and where do they live? *Pediatrics.* 2004;114(1):187-195.
- 164. Smith PJ, Humiston SG, Marcuse EK, et al. Parental delay or refusal of vaccine doses, childhood vaccination coverage at 24 months of age, and the Health Belief Model. *Public Health Rep.* 2011;126 Suppl 2:135-146.
- 165. Salmon DA, Moulton LH, Omer SB, DeHart MP, Stokley S, Halsey NA. Factors associated with refusal of childhood vaccines among parents of school-aged children: a case-control study. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2005;159(5):470-476.

- 166. Rimoldi SG, Stefani F, Pagani C, et al. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of pediatric gastroenteritis associated with new viral agents. *Archives of virology.* 2011;156(9):1583-1589.
- 167. Corcoran MS, van Well GT, van Loo IH. Diagnosis of viral gastroenteritis in children: interpretation of real-time PCR results and relation to clinical symptoms. *European journal of clinical microbiology & infectious diseases : official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology.* 2014.
- 168. Anderson EJ. Prevention and treatment of viral diarrhea in pediatrics. *Expert review of anti-infective therapy.* 2010;8(2):205-217.
- 169. Daley AJ, Nallusamy R, Isaacs D. Comparison of influenza A and influenza B virus infection in hospitalized children. *J Paediatr Child Health.* 2000;36(4):332-335.
- 170. Moore DL, Vaudry W, Scheifele DW, et al. Surveillance for influenza admissions among children hospitalized in Canadian immunization monitoring program active centers, 2003-2004. *Pediatrics.* 2006;118(3):e610-619.
- 171. Peltola V, Ziegler T, Ruuskanen O. Influenza A and B virus infections in children. *Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America.* 2003;36(3):299-305.
- 172. Rojo JC, Ruiz-Contreras J, Fernandez MB, Marin MA, Folgueira L. Influenza-related hospitalizations in children younger than three years of age. *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. 2006;25(7):596-601.
- 173. Silvennoinen H, Peltola V, Lehtinen P, Vainionpaa R, Heikkinen T. Clinical presentation of influenza in unselected children treated as outpatients. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* 2009;28(5):372-375.
- Ultsch B, Damm O, Beutels P, et al. Methods for Health Economic Evaluation of Vaccines and Immunization Decision Frameworks: A Consensus Framework from a European Vaccine Economics Community. *Pharmacoeconomics.* 2016;34(3):227-244.
- 175. Newall AT, Reyes JF, Wood JG, McIntyre P, Menzies R, Beutels P. Economic evaluations of implemented vaccination programmes: key methodological challenges in retrospective analyses. *Vaccine.* 2014;32(7):759-765.
- 176. Bilcke J, Beutels P, Brisson M, Jit M. Accounting for methodological, structural, and parameter uncertainty in decision-analytic models: a practical guide. *Medical decision making : an international journal of the Society for Medical Decision Making.* 2011;31(4):675-692.
- 177. National Advisory Committee on Immunization (NACI). Statement on the recommended use of pentavalent human-bovine reassortant rotavirus vaccine. *Canadian Communicable Disease Report.* 2008;34.
- 178. National Advisory Committee on Immunization (NACI). Updated statement on the use of rotavirus vaccines. *Canadian Communicable Disease Report.* 2010;36(4).
- 179. Statistics Canada. Montréal [Census metropolitan area], Quebec and Quebec [Province] (table). *Census Profile. 2016 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 98-316-X2016001.* Ottawa. Released Feburary 8, 2017; http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/prof/index.cfm?Lang=E (accessed March 17, 2017).
- 180. Régie de l'assurance maladie Québec. Health Insurance: Eligibility for the Québec Insurance Plan. <u>http://www.ramq.gouv.qc.ca/en/citizens/health-insurance/registration/Pages/eligibility.aspx</u>. Accessed February 1, 2017.
- 181. Shaban-Nejad A, Lavigne M, Okhmatovskaia A, Buckeridge DL. PopHR: a knowledgebased platform to support integration, analysis, and visualization of population health data. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2017;1387(1):44-53.
- 182. Government of Canada. Industry Canada, Logibec Company Profile. 2014; <u>http://www.ic.gc.ca/app/ccc/srch/nvgt.do?lang=eng&prtl=1&sbPrtl=&estblmntNo</u> <u>=123456051467&profile=cmpltPrfl&profileId=2059&app=sold</u>. Accessed January 28, 2014.
- 183. Doll MK, Morrison KT, Buckeridge DL, Quach C. Two Birds With One Stone: Estimating Population Vaccination Coverage From a Test-negative Vaccine Effectiveness Case-control Study. *Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America.* 2016;63(8):1080-1086.
- 184. Rotavirus Vaccine. April 2016; http://publications.msss.gouv.qc.ca/msss/fichiers/piq/feuillets complets en.pdf. Accessed February 16, 2017.
- 185. Aragon TJ. epitools: Epidemiology Tools. *R package version 0.5-7* 2012; https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=epitools.
- 186. Wilson SE, Deeks SL, Rosella LC. Importance of ICD-10 coding directive change for acute gastroenteritis (unspecified) for rotavirus vaccine impact studies: illustration from a population-based cohort study from Ontario, Canada. *BMC Res Notes.* 2015;8:439.
- 187. Wagner AK, Soumerai SB, Zhang F, Ross-Degnan D. Segmented regression analysis of interrupted time series studies in medication use research. *Journal of clinical pharmacy and therapeutics.* 2002;27(4):299-309.
- 188. Cameron AC, Trivedi PK. *Regression analysis of count data.* Vol 53: Cambridge university press; 2013.
- 189. Hamborsky J, Kroger A. Rotavirus. *Epidemiology and prevention of vaccinepreventable diseases, E-Book: The Pink Book*: Public Health Foundation; 2015.
- 190. Peng RD, Dominici F, Louis TA. Model choice in time series studies of air pollution and mortality. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A (Statistics in Society).* 2006;169(2):179-203.
- 191. Cameron AC, Trivedi PK. Essentials of count data regression. In: Baltagi B, ed. *A Companion to Theoretical Econometrics.* Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2003:331-348.
- 192. Burnham KP, Anderson DR. Summary. *Model Selection and Multimodel Inference: A Practical Information-Theoretic Approach*. New York: Springer; 2002.
- 193. Schwartz J, Spix C, Touloumi G, et al. Methodological issues in studies of air pollution and daily counts of deaths or hospital admissions. *Journal of epidemiology and community health.* 1996;50(Suppl 1):S3-11.
- 194. Ver Hoef JM, Boveng PL. Quasi-Poisson vs. negative binomial regression: how should we model overdispersed count data? *Ecology.* 2007;88(11):2766-2772.
- 195. Zeileis A. Object-oriented Computation of Sandwich Estimators. *2006*. 2006;16(9):16.

- 196. Zeileis A. Econometric Computing with HC and HAC Covariance Matrix Estimators. *2004.* 2004;11(10):17.
- 197. King G, Roberts ME. How robust standard errors expose methodological problems they do not fix, and what to do about it. 2014.
- 198. Costa I, Linhares AC, Cunha MH, et al. Sustained Decrease in Gastroenteritis-related Deaths and Hospitalizations in Children Less Than 5 Years of Age After the Introduction of Rotavirus Vaccination: A Time-Trend Analysis in Brazil (2001-2010). *The Pediatric infectious disease journal.* 2016;35(6):e180-190.